

TRACKTION 2 MUSIC PRODUCTION SOFTWARE





Please place your Tracktion 2.0 License Number label here (packaged with the Tracktion 2.0 CDs):



Enter your my.mackie.com Login information here:

Login email address _____

Don't forget to visit our website at www.mackie.com for more information about this and other Mackie products.





Tracktion 2

2

LOUD TECHNOLOGIES INC. END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT Tracktion 2.0

By clicking on the "I Accept" button, installing, copying or otherwise using the Software, you agree to be bound by the terms of this License Agreement. If you do not agree to the terms of this License Agreement, click on the "I Do Not Accept" button and/or do not install the Software.

1. License. YOU (either as an individual or an entity) MAY: (a) use the Software on a maximum of two (2) computers; (b) physically transfer the Software from one computer to another provided that the Software is used on no more than two computers at a time and that you remove any copies of the Software from the computer(s) from which the Software is being transferred; and (c) install another copy of the Software in the event that the first Software installation is unusable.

YOU MAY NOT: (a) distribute copies of the Software or the documentation to others; (b) modify, rent, lease or grant sublicenses or other rights to the Software; and (c) use the Software in a computer service business, network, time-sharing, multiple CPU or multiple user arrangement without the prior written consent of LOUD Technologies Inc.

- 2. Copyright. This License is not a sale of the Software or any other copy. LOUD Technologies Inc. and Raw Material Software retain title and ownership of the Software and documentation, including all intellectual property rights. No title to the intellectual property in the Software is transferred to you. You will not acquire any rights to the Software except as expressly set forth above.
- 3. Reverse Engineering. You agree that you will not attempt, and if you are a corporation, you will use your best efforts to prevent your employees and contractors from attempting to reverse engineer, disassemble, compile, modify, translate, or otherwise alter the Software or any associated LOUD Technologies Inc. hardware in whole or in part.
- 4. Limited Warranty. LOUD Technologies Inc. warrants that the media on which the Software is furnished will be free from defects in materials and workmanship under normal use for a period of ninety (90) days from the date of purchase. If a defect appears during the warranty period, return the diskette/compact disk to LOUD Technologies Inc., and you will receive a free replacement. This Limited Warranty is void if failure of the Software has resulted from accident, abuse, or misapplication. Any replacement Software will be warranted for the remainder of the original warranty period. The foregoing is your sole and exclusive remedy for breach of warranty. THIS WARRANTY GIVES YOU SPECIFIC LEGAL RIGHTS AND YOU MAY ALSO HAVE OTHER RIGHTS THAT VARY BY JURISDICTION.
- 5. No Other Warranties. LOUD Technologies Inc. AND ITS LICENSOR(s) (hereafter collectively referred to as "LOUD Technologies Inc.") DO NOT WARRANT THAT THE LOUD Technologies Inc. SOFTWARE NOR ANY THIRD-PARTY SOFTWARE AVAILABLE FOR DOWNLOAD (collectively the "Software") ARE ERROR FREE. YOU EXPRESSLY ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE SOFTWARE AND DOCUMENTATION ARE PROVIDED "AS IS." LOUD Technologies Inc. DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANT-ABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO THE SOFTWARE. SHOULD THE SOFTWARE PROVE DEFECTIVE, YOU (AND NOT LOUD Technologies Inc. OR AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE) ASSUME THE ENTIRE COST OF ALL NECESSARY SERVICING, REPAIR OR CORRECTION.

- 6. No Liability for Consequential Damages. IN NO EVENT SHALL LOUD Technologies Inc. BE LIABLE TO YOU FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR INDIRECT DAMAGES OF ANY KIND ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF THE LOUD Technologies Inc. SOFTWARE, EVEN IF LOUD Technologies Inc. HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. LOUD Technologies Inc.'S LIABILITY FOR ANY CLAIM, LOSSES, DAMAGES OR INJURY, WHETHER CAUSED BY BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY OF LIABILITY, SHALL NOT EXCEED THE LICENSE FEE PAID BY YOU. SOME JURISDICTIONS DO NOT ALLOW THE EXCLUSION OF IMPLIED WARRANTIES OR INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, SO THE ABOVE LIMITATION OR EXCLU-SIONS MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU.
- 7. Term. This Agreement is effective until terminated. You may terminate this Agreement at any time by uninstalling the Software together with destroying any copies in any form. This Agreement, including the license to use the Software, will terminate automatically if you fail to comply with any term or condition
- **8. Upgrades.** LOUD may at its discretion release upgrades to the Software. LOUD has no obligation to offer free or discounted upgrades to any end user of the Software.
- **9. Governing Law and Severability.** This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Washington and will be interpreted as if the agreement were made between Washington residents and performed entirely within Washington. If for any reason a court finds any provision of this License unenforceable, that provision will be enforced to the maximum extent possible, and the remainder of the License shall continue in full force and effect.
- **10. Entire Agreement.** This is the entire agreement between you and LOUD Technologies Inc. AND supersedes any prior agreement, whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. No amendment or modification of this agreement will be binding unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of LOUD Technologies Inc.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Getting started with Tracktion	7
1.1 A guick overview of Tracktion's user interface	7
1.2 Setting up your audio and MIDI devices	9
1.3 A word on hardware requirements	12
1.4 Setting up your plug-ins paths	13
1.5 Trying the demo songs	14
Chapter 2: The projects page—working with pro	ojects
and items	16
2.1 An overview of the projects page	16
2.2 Creating a new project	18
2.3 The project properties	19
Chapter 3: The edit page	21
3.1 Familiarising yourself with the edit page	21
3.2 Tracks, clips, and the arrange area	25
3.3 Handy shortcuts for working with tracks	28
Chapter 4: Working with audio	29
4.1 A brief introduction to digital audio	29
4.2 Recording and importing audio	31
4.3 Working with audio clips	37
4.4 Trouble-shooting audio problems	39
4.5 Handy audio clip and recording shortcuts	40
Chapter 5: Working with MIDI	42
5.1 A brief introduction to MIDI	42
5.2 Using external MIDI gear	44
5.3 Working with virtual instruments, and MIDI filters	44
5.4 Recording MIDI	46
5.5 The MIDI editor	48
5.6 Quantising, and working with groove templates	52
5.7 Troubleshooting MIDI recording problems	53
5.8 Handy MIDI editing shortcuts	54

Chapter 6	: Mixing and Adding Effects	55
6.1 Adding	effects and setting levels	55
6.2 Workin	g with sub-mixes and auxiliary sends	59
Chapter 7	: Automation	62
7.1 Recordi	ng and editing automation	62
7.2 Mappin	g MIDI controllers to automation parameters	64
7.3 Handy a	utomation editing and recording shortcuts	65
Chapter 8	B: Tempo, sychronisation, and the time li	ne66
8.1 Working	g with tempos and the time-line	66
8.2 Using m	narkers	68
8.3 Workin	g with the click-track	68
8.4 Synchro	onising to external hardware, and video	69
8.5 Handy	tempo and quantise shortcuts	71
Chapter 9	: Exporting and distributing your music-	72
9.1 Exportin	ng your music as an audio file	72
9.2 Burning	your music to CD, or creating an MP3	73
9.3 A few fi	nal words	75

Note: Tracktion originated in the mind of Julian Storer, an English programmer with a love of audio. Stateside Tracktioneers* will notice a distinctly British flavor to the user interface. To help you understand Tracktion better, the manual was written with a British accent (thank you to Adam Starkey). So sit back, imagine yourself overlooking an English moor (or in an English pub if you prefer), and enjoy Tracktion!

*People who use Tracktion

Chapter 1: Getting started with Tracktion

1.1 A quick overview of Tracktion's user interface

Welcome to Tracktion! Tracktion is a powerful audio and MIDI sequencer, designed with simplicity and ease of use in mind.

Do not be fooled by Tracktion's uncluttered interface however; ease of use in this case does not equate to a lack of features. Tracktion is capable of delivering professional results that only a few years back would have required a significant investment in expensive hardware. When you open Tracktion, you have at your disposal, all of the tools needed to turn your musical ideas into great sounding mixes.

The Tracktion interface

Tracktion is made up of three pages, each of which shares a similar look and feel.



Figure 1.1.1

Page tabs

Use these tabs to switch between Tracktion's three pages: the projects page, the settings page, and the edit page (shown above). You can use the keyboard keys **F1**, **F2**, and **F3** to switch between the three tabs.

When Tracktion is first opened, you will see the projects page. All three pages will be described throughout the chapters of this user guide.

Hint box and window widgets

When you move your mouse over a tool in Tracktion, a useful hint will be shown in the hint box along the top of the Tracktion interface. This is a great way of learning your way around Tracktion.

The windows widgets allow you to close, minimise, and resize the Tracktion interface.

Main section

This is where the majority of the action takes place, on each of the Tracktion pages.

Control section

The region labelled "controls" in the image below is called the control section. Here you will find most of the tools for working with Tracktion. The tools available depend on the page you have selected.

Properties panel

Many items in Tracktion have a range of tools and options specific to them. When such items are selected, these tools and options are displayed in the properties panel.

The properties panel is integral to Tracktion's "everything in one place" design. If you have ever used other sequencer software that requires you to work though layers of menus and windows, thus constantly breaking your workflow, you will definitely appreciate the properties panel.

Misc. tools

This section is only used when the project and edit pages are open. When the project page is selected, this section shows the current clipboard for copy and paste operations.

If you switch to the edit page, this section will become the transport section, where you can control the transport and change related settings.



Controls

Properties panel

Misc. tools

1.2 Setting up your audio and MIDI devices

- Click on the settings tab at the top of the Tracktion interface. This displays the settings page with tabbed names along the left hand side.
- Select the "audio devices" tab to view and configure the audio and MIDI devices available on your computer.

The top-most part of this page is the wave device region (Fig. 1.2.1).

	M-Audio Delta ASIO \$		
✓ enabled	Analog Out 1/2 Delta-AP [1] (1 + 2)	output	default wave output
X disabled	SPDIF Out L/R Delta-AP [1] (1 + 2)	output	
✓ enabled	Analog In 1 Delta-AP [1] + Analog In 2 Delta-AP [1]	input	
X disabled	SPDIF In L Delta-AP [1]	input	
X disabled	SPDIF In R Delta-AP [1]	input	
X disabled	Mixer In L Delta-AP [1]	input	
X disabled	Mixer In R Delta-AP [1]	input	
sample rate	44100 Hz 🗘	use ASIO Direct Mode	show ASIO control panel
latency	512 samples (11.6 millisecs)	C	restart device

Figure 1.2.1

At the top of this display, there is a drop-down list. This is where you choose your wave device. Tracktion will normally select the correct ASIO or CoreAudio driver by default. If for some reason it does not select the best choice, or if you have more than one sound card installed, you may need to change this.

The entries in the wave device list refer to the available audio drivers installed on your computer. There may be a number of entries in this list depending on the type(s) of sound card(s) you have installed, but generally speaking, you will only be interested in the ASIO/ CoreAudio options.

PC and ASIO drivers

If you are using a PC and have no ASIO options available, then you probably don't have an ASIO capable audio device installed. As such, you will need to try one of the other options. However, using Tracktion with non-ASIO drivers may have an impact on performance, and it is worth investing in a sound card or computer audio interface with ASIO driver support.

If you know your hardware has ASIO support but you do not see it in the list, you may need to uninstall and reinstall the drivers for this audio device. Consult the documentation that came with the sound card for further information.

Mac and CoreAudio drivers

If you are using a Mac and some of your CoreAudio devices are not listed, this may be because they are not currently connected to the Mac. Close Tracktion, check the connections, and try again.

Setting the sample rate

Select your desired sample rate from the drop down list. For audio intended for CD, you will typically want to set this to 44100 Hz. Opinion is split on whether working at higher rates is worthwhile, but if you like to work at higher sample rates then it is a good idea to increase this value in fixed multiples of your desired final sample rate (e.g., 88200 Hz for CD audio which will end up at 44100 Hz). Be aware that higher sample rates require correspondingly more processing power, so doubling the sample rate will likely halve the amount of effects, VSTis, and tracks your computer can process.

Setting the latency

To provide an uninterrupted audio stream it is typically necessary for computers to buffer a few milliseconds of sound before sending it out to the audio devices. This buffering causes a slight delay referred to as latency. In real terms this means that if you hit a key on a MIDI keyboard that is controlling a virtual instrument inside Tracktion, or play a guitar live into the software, there will be a (very) small period of time before the sound is actually heard. For play-back and mixing purposes, latency is seldom an issue. For live performance or recording, however, latencies above 20 ms are usually considered to be hard to work with. Fortunately, modern computers and audio interfaces are capable of achieving extremely low latencies with no noticeable delay.

It should also be noted that for end-to-end operation, where sound is being recorded and played back at the same time, the overall latency is double the value set in this box. So, if you are using Tracktion to add effects to a live guitar performance, for example, you may need to set this value a little lower than usual.

Very low latencies can have a high cost on computer performance though, and setting the latency value too low will usually cause "glitchy" playback (characterised by pops and clicks) if you are using an older machine.

ASIO settings

The PC version of Tracktion has a few extra options, specific to ASIO.

The "use ASIO direct mode" option may improve performance with some ASIO drivers. Typically it is benign at worst, so it is probably worth leaving it enabled. If you are having problems with sound in Tracktion, you should try toggling this setting.

The "show ASIO control panel" button displays the control panel for the currently selected ASIO device. Please note, the screen you see here will be specific to your hardware, so refer to the documentation that came with your audio hardware for further information.

The "use real-time priority mode" option can help with compatibility for some ASIO sound cards. Note, this option should only be enabled when absolutely necessary, as it can conflict with some VST plug-ins, causing Tracktion to freeze. It never hurts to try this setting to see if your performance improves and switch back if it doesn't.

PC user's note: Some ASIO drivers do not allow settings such as sample rate and latency to be adjusted by external applications. If your ASIO driver is one of these cases, then the sample rate and latency options will only display current values of the dedicated ASIO control panel. In this case, you will need to set these values from the ASIO driver's own interface by clicking the "show ASIO control panel" button. *Be sure to click the "restart device" button when you are done*.

The audio input and output devices

With a suitable wave device chosen, select which audio inputs and outputs you will be using. Be aware that all active inputs and outputs consume computing power, so disable any I/O channels that you do not need. Equally, if you use a particular input or output only occasionally, it probably makes sense to leave it disabled. You can always enable it when needed.

At the bottom of the "audio devices" tab there is an option labeled "only show enabled devices." Enabling this option can be convenient if your audio interface has a large number of inputs and/or outputs, some of which you rarely use. For now, leave it disabled so that all of your devices are visible.

To enable or disable an audio device, just click on the enable/disable label to the left of the entry.

You can also nominate one audio output to be the "default audio device." The default output will become the master output for Tracktion's mixed stereo output from the master fader in the lower right hand corner of the edit screen. To make a different output the default, just click on the "make this the default" label.

Setting up your MIDI devices

- Click on the settings tab at the top of the Tracktion interface. This will display the settings page.
- Select the "audio devices" tab to view and configure the MIDI devices available on your computer.

The bottom part of this page is the MIDI device region (Fig. 1.2.2).

✓ enabled	MPU-401	output	(click to make this the default)
✓ enabled	Delta AP MIDI	output	default midi output
🗶 disabled	Microsoft GS Wavetable SW Synth	output	
✓ enabled	MPU-401	input	
√ enabled	Delta AP MIDI	input	

Figure 1.2.2

At the bottom of the "audio devices" tab there is an option labelled "only show enabled devices." Disable this option so that all of your devices are visible.

To enable or disable a MIDI device, just click on the enable/disable label to the left of the entry.

A default MIDI output can also be set similarly to the default audio output. Simply click the "click here to make this the default" label to make a midi output the default.

1.3 A word on hardware requirements

Although Tracktion provides great results even on modest computers, the available computing power of a machine directly affects how large a project Tracktion is capable of playing in real-time.

Three factors go together to determine the computational resources available to Tracktion:

Processor (CPU) speed

Every track, software instrument, audio effect, and input device used by an edit requires a chunk of your computer's processing power. Tracktion features a CPU meter that shows how much of your CPU resources are being used at any one time.

Software effects and instruments place especially high demands on the processor, so if you find your edits require too much processing power, look for ways to use these plug-ins more efficiently, including Tracktion's "freeze" feature (explained elsewhere).

Hard drive speed

The speed at which data can be read from your hard drive defines how many audio tracks can be played at once. Laptop computers, in particular, tend to use slower 2.5" form factor hard drives than desktop machines, which use faster 3.5" form factor hard drives.

When using a laptop computer, if you find that your edits consistently require more hard drive performance, you may want to consider investing in an external hard drive, which houses a desktop 3.5" hard drive in an external enclosure that can interface with your laptop through USB2 or Firewire.

Memory (or RAM)

If a computer has insufficient memory, processor performance and hard drive performance will both be adversely affected. Every program or plug-in that is running on your computer will use some of your available memory. In fact, just loading the operating system (Windows XP or OSX) will use a significant amount of RAM.

When a computer runs out of RAM, it will attempt to create extra space by using sections of the hard drive as a slower form of memory. These read-write operations consequently steal some of the hard drive bandwidth from your audio tracks. In addition, because it takes many thousand times longer for your processor to read data from a hard drive than it would do to read it in main memory, processing tasks take much longer too.

Although Tracktion and its supported OS will run on 256 megabytes of memory, 512 megabytes will deliver a much better user experience, with even higher amounts being appropriate when using memory hungry instrument plugins (like virtual samplers for instance). In general, the more memory you can put in your computer, the better all programs, including Tracktion, will operate.

Note: Be aware that background processes such as virus checkers, printer monitors, or instant messengers all will use some of your precious computing power. If possible, disable any background processes that you do not actively need.

1.4 Setting up your plug-ins paths

- Click on the settings tab at the top of the Tracktion interface. This will display the settings page.
- Select the "plugins" tab to configure VST and ReWire plug-ins on your computer.

Tracktion can host 3rd party instrument and effects plug-ins in the form of VST plug-ins, and ReWire slave applications.

VST plug-ins

The VST technology allows sequencers such as Tracktion to incorporate 3rd party applications called "plug-ins." These plug-ins can be used to add new audio effects such as reverb or delay, or complete instruments such as emulations of classic analogue synthesisers. In Tracktion, such plug-ins are referred to as "filters," and we will see how to use them later in this manual. This section merely describes how to tell Tracktion how to find any plug-ins you may have installed your computer.

The top-most part of the plug-ins tab shows the list of directories that Tracktion searches for VST plug-ins (Fig. 1.4.1).

directories to search for VST plugins:	C:\Program Files\Tracktion\plugins C:\Program Files\Steinberg\VST Plugins			
	remove path add path move up move down			

Figure 1.4.1

The directories listed in the large box, and all of their sub-directories, are searched for VST plug-ins.

To add a new search path, simply click the "add path..." button and navigate to the top level of your plug-in directory. Repeat this method for each main directory you would like searched for VST plug-ins. A path can be removed by highlighting it, and clicking "remove path."

The "move up" and "move down" buttons allow you to adjust the order in which directories are searched. Directories at the top of the list are searched first.

The next box (Fig. 1.4.2) shows a list of plug-ins that Tracktion has chosen to ignore. If a plug-in file cannot be opened as a VST plug-in, Tracktion will add it to this list.





Sometimes plug-ins are incorrectly added to the list because they failed to initialise correctly at some point. If you believe a plug-in should work, but it has been added to this list, try removing it and rescanning the plug-in directories. Do this by first highlighting the plugin in the ignore list and pressing delete to remove it from the list. Then click the "rescan plug-in directories" button and choose "just look for plug-ins that are new or have changed" from the pop up list.

Tip: The Internet is host to a huge array of free or inexpensive plug-ins, many of which easily rival hardware you could have paid hundreds, or even thousands, of dollars for just a few years ago.

For a good resource for plug-ins of all flavours, go to the KvR Audio Website at http://www.kvraudio.com

ReWire slaves

ReWire provides a method by which an audio application can be run as a slave to another application. It is possible to have two sequencers running on one computer, with one essentially acting as a virtual instrument inside the other.

To configure Tracktion to host ReWire applications, just click the "enable ReWire" option.

A note on plug-in organisation

The tree-structure displayed when adding new filters to tracks will correspond to the directory structure used to organise VST plug-ins on your hard drive (Fig. 1.4.3).



Figure 1.4.3

The image on the left shows a folder-view inside Windows Explorer. The image on the right shows Tracktion's filter pop-up menu. If you look at the tree structure for both, you will see that the filter list matches the VST directory structure. This can be very handy if you have large number of VST plug-ins installed, as it allows you to organise them in a meaningful manner. The plug-ins above have been categorised by companies.

1.5 Trying the demo songs

Now you have Tracktion all set up and ready to go, a good way to familiarize yourself with your new software is to check out some of the included demo songs.

- Click on the projects page tab, to bring the projects page to the fore.
- On the left hand side of your screen is the project list (Fig. 1.5.1). This is where all of your active projects are shown. To start, select "Everyone Wants You" from the list.



Figure 1.5.1

- The main area to the right of the project list is called the item list; it shows all of the edits and media associated with the currently selected project.
- Double-click on the edit named "Everyone Wants You," or select it and click the "open for editing" button at the bottom of the page.

After a few moments the edit will load and you will see the "edit page". It is here that you construct your songs. If you play this demo, you can see visually how the song is constructed by watching the vertical time-line cursor (or "play-head") scroll through the arrangement.

- To play the song, click the "play" button in the bottom right of the screen (Fig. 1.5.2), or hit the SPACEBAR key.
- Click the stop button again (or press the SPACEBAR key) to stop playback.



Figure 1.5.2

Chapter 2: The projects page—working with projects and items

2.1 An overview of the projects page

To help you organize your work, Tracktion provides a handy project manager that keeps track of projects and their associated files (called items). In addition, the "projects" page allows you to add custom descriptions to items and projects, making it much easier for you to keep track of your work.

🖃 🪞 Active Projects	All items in project: 'C	Coming Home'			3 items
- C So Mad	name				
- Hinge	🔠 Alternative mix	Removed intro, and tidled up bassline.	Coming Home	edit	2 mins 34 secs
Just Landed	🛓 early mix	(created as the default edit for this project)	Coming Home	edit	2 mins 34 secs
Coming Nome	A BTB-SlowJamz		Coming Home	wave	2 secs
Aural Pleasure					
You Left					
The Brook					
Exhale					
Starlight					
Tracktion Tutorial					
Just a tune					
Library Protes					
Tack test					
-					
search keywords:	1				
select projects search					

Figure 2.1.1

If you look at the projects page (Fig. 2.1.1), you will see that the main region is broken into three panels. In the image above, these panels are labelled as A, B and C. The panel labelled A is called the "project-list." The panel labelled B is called the "item-list." The final panel, labelled C, is the "search box."

A: The project-list

The project-list is not, as it may at first appear, a list of all projects on your hard drive. Rather, it shows those projects that are currently "open." An open project can be thought of as a book-marked project. It isn't open in the way that a document may be open in a word processor; rather it is marked as being a work in progress. All newly created projects, will be opened by default ready for you to work on them. Projects that you have previously closed, however, will need to be re-opened before they can be edited.

To close a project, right-click on the project name, and select the "close project" option. You can also opt to close all open projects from this menu. Closing a project does not alter the project in any way; it simply removes the reference to the project from the project-list. To open a previously closed project, click the "open project" button, and from the displayed dialogue box, navigate to the project file.

When a project is selected in the list, various related options and values will appear in the properties-panel. These options will be discussed later in this chapter.

If you wish to change the order in which projects are listed, you can simply drag their names up or down to the desired location. Notice that there are two folders displayed in the project list. These are simply for your convenience in organising your projects into "active projects" or "library projects" that are not being worked on as regularly.

B: The item-list

The item-list shows all material associated with a project. This material may take the form of MIDI files, audio files, and edits.

If you are used to simply placing all of the files related to a project in the project's folder on your hard drive, then you may be wondering what advantages the item-list offers. Primarily the item-list is there to streamline the process of managing projects and related media items. It does this by providing a way of storing extra information about individual files, and a mechanism by which files can be shared between projects. In the same way, if you have reason to keep files in different locations on your hard drive, the item-list will help you keep track of things.

Selecting an item in the item-list, will display various related options and values in the properties-panel. These options will be discussed later in this chapter.

Clicking on the column names just above the item-list will cause the list to be sorted on that column. If you wish to manually change the order in which items are listed, simply drag their names up or down to the desired location.

C: The search box

Just below the project-list, there you will see a search box (Fig. 2.1.2). You can use this search tool to search your open projects for keywords. The search is often useful for finding resources attached to projects. For example, if you have a hi-hat sample in a project and you wish to use it in another, assuming the sample had "hi-hat" somewhere in its name, you could do a search for that keyword to locate it.



Figure 2.1.2

Search keywords: Type the name, or part of the name, of the material for which you are searching.

Select projects: If you wish to narrow the search to specific projects, click this button and choose the projects you wish to be searched from the list.

Search: Click this button to perform the search. The results will be shown in the itemlist. Click a search result in the item-list to find out more about it, including which project it belongs to.

2.2 Creating a new project

A typical song may grow to consist of a number of edits, audio files, and MIDI clips. To help you keep these components organized, Tracktion combines them all into projects. A project is simply a collection of edits, and references to any audio files needed by these edits. The components of a project need not be located in the same folder as the project file on your hard drive, which makes it easy to share media between projects.

Tip: Tracktion's project system makes keeping track of your songs and associated files fairly painless, but it is still good practise to keep everything related to a project in one place. You may find it helpful to create folders for each of your projects and place in them any files referenced by the project.

If you try to create a new project in a folder that already contains other files, Tracktion will ask you if you wish to create a new folder that is named after the project.

Starting a new project is simple:

• Click "new project..." (See Fig. 2.2.1).



Figure 2.2.1

• A dialogue box appears asking you where you wish to save the project. Choose a location on your hard drive, and enter a name for the project, for example, "Tracktion Tutorial." (See Fig. 2.2.2).

Create new proj	ect				<u>?×</u>
Save jn:	Tracktion 2	Project	•	🗢 🗈 💣 🎫	
History Desktop My Computer		4. 4.			
	File <u>n</u> ame:	New project		•	<u>S</u> ave
	Save as type:	*.tracktion		•	Cancel

Figure 2.2.2

As shown in Figure 2.2.3, the new project will be now be present in the Active Projects list. Select it and you will see that a default edit named "new edit #1" has also been created. You can think of edits as being versions of a song. As you work, you may want to save copies of the current state of your song. This can be accomplished by simply copying your edit and continuing with your work.



Figure 2.2.3

• Open this edit by double-clicking on it, or by selecting it, and clicking the "open for editing" button near the bottom right corner of the properties panel (Fig. 2.2.4).

🔒 media clip of type 'edit'					
name	new edit #1	description	(created as the default edit for this project)		
project	Tracktion Tutorial	description			
file	edit_041219_215716.trked				
(v	riew history	0	reate a copy	create a new edit	
		export edit		import material	
	find referenced material				
	delete edit	impor	t external files	open for editing	

Figure 2.2.4

2.3 The project properties

When a project is selected, its properties are displayed in the properties-panel (Fig. 2.3.1). Various tools and options related to the project can be found on this panel.



Figure 2.3.1

Name: You can view and edit the project name from this field. It is this name you see in the project-list. Note that changing the name here does not affect the project file name.

Description: This field allows you to enter a description of the project, or make notes for future reference.

File: This field shows the location of the project on your hard drive.

Export project: This option allows you to bundle the project and related materials into an archive. Use this if you want back up your work, or transfer it to another computer. Exporting is discussed in the final chapter of this guide.

Create new edit: This option creates a new empty edit in the current project.

If you wish to make a copy of an existing edit, select the edit in the item-list and click the "make a copy of this edit" button.

Chapter 3: The edit page

3.1 Familiarising yourself with the edit page

The edit page is where you arrange your compositions, and is the main screen in which you will spend most of your time in Tracktion. If you look at Figure 3.1.1, you can see there are nine sections of note on this page. Working from the top-left hand corner notice the following:



Figure 3.1.1

A: The quick scroll tool

The blue box shows the area of the whole edit that is currently in view. At a glance you can see how far into a song you are. By dragging the box from side to side, you can also use this tool as a fast way to navigate through the entire length of your edit.

B: The time-line

The time-line provides a series of time divisions against which you can arrange the components and sections of your song, in terms of bars/beats, seconds/milliseconds, or seconds/frames.

In figure 3.1.1 you can see three vertical lines, that span the section labelled " \mathbf{E} ," and reach up into the time-line. The orange lines are the In and Out markers and the blue line is the play-head cursor.

The In and Out markers are used to define a section of an edit to be played in looped mode. They are also used to specify record start and stop points for punch mode. Some editing tools can also be set to work only on the region between the In and Out markers. To move these markers, simply click and drag them left or right.

During playback, the play-head cursor shows the current location on the time-line. Dragging the play-head cursor left or right scrolls through the edit.

C: Miscellaneous tools



The "new filter..." icon is used to add new filters to tracks. We will look at filters in more detail in a later chapter.



Toggle option to show/hide the input section (shown as "D" in Fig. 3.1.1). Shortcut **SHIFT + CTRL + I**.



Toggle option to show/hide the filter section (shown as "F" in Fig. 3.1.1). Shortcut **SHIFT + CTRL + F**.



Toggles the visibility of the rack editor window (not shown in Fig. 3.1.1). Shortcut **CTRL** + **G** (**CMD** + **G** for Mac users). We will look at rack filters in a later chapter.

D: The input section

This is where you manage your input devices, the input channels of your audio interface and MIDI interface(s). There are two display modes available for the input section. Figure 3.1.1 above shows the "per-track view" mode. The alternative display type shows all of the inputs as draggable icons (Fig. 3.1.2). Both modes behave slightly differently, and have their own advantages and disadvantages. The "per-track view" makes keeping track of a large amount of inputs far easier than the icon view. The icon view allows more than one input device to be connected to a single track, and works better when only a few input devices are present. We will look at the input devices in greater detail in the later chapters on audio and MIDI.



Figure 3.1.2

In addition to the input devices, the input section has selectable track names which you can use to re-order tracks, or access the track properties. We will look more closely at tracks later in this chapter.

E: The arrange area

The arrange area is where you actually construct your songs. Working with the arrange area, tracks, and clips, is described later in this chapter.

F: The filters section

The filter section can be though of as a mixer and as a plug-ins effects rack all in one place. Another way to think of it is like a traditional "mixer", but rotated 90 degrees on its side, allowing it to peacefully exist as part of Tracktion's one-screen interface. We will look at filters in more detail in later chapters. For now, bear in mind that each track has a corresponding filter strip.

G: The control section

The control section contains various tools and options for working with Tracktion.

undo	\bigcirc	redo
save	•	clipboard +
import	•	export 🕨
timecode	•	click track +
snapping	•	tracks 🕨
options	•	automation +
help!	•	

Figure 3.1.3

With the exception of the undo/redo buttons, when clicked, these buttons display a popup menu with various options and functions available. We will look at the options available from the control section throughout the rest of this user guide, but let's take a look at the help button right now.

When you click the "help" button, you are presented with a pop-up menu showing the following options:

- Show Tracktion help pages: This option launches the Tracktion documentation file so you can read through it. Keyboard shortcut: **F12**.
- Turn on pop-up help : When this option is enabled, Tracktion displays a pop-up window next to options. This can be handy when you are first finding your way around Tracktion. Keyboard shortcut **F11**.
- Use longer delay before pop-up help appears: When this option is activated, Tracktion will wait a few moments before displaying the pop-up help, which some users prefer. This setting will have no effect unless the pop-up help is enabled.

Tip: If you would like to see the pop-up help for any item, simply position the mouse over the item, and press **F10** on your computer keyboard. This works even with pop-up help turned off.

H: The properties panel

The properties panel is a context sensitive system. Most objects and controls have a range of properties available to them. When such an item is selected, this panel will display the properties. The properties-panel helps to keep all Tracktion's functionality on one screen, and in one place. By removing the burden of opening, closing, and moving, windows, the properties-panel greatly improves workflow and is the heart of Tracktion's single screen interface.

Tip: you can lock the properties of a selected item in place, so that they remain even when you click off of the item by clicking the padlock icon at the top-left-hand corner of the properties panel. Shortcut **CTRL** + **P** (**CMD** + **P** for Mac users).

I: The transport section

The transport section contains the main play/record transport controls, plus options related to playback and recording (Fig. 3.1.4).



Figure 3.1.4

The top-left-hand corner of the transport section shows the current tempo and time signature.

To the right of the tempo is the current play-head position. This value can be edited to snap the play-head cursor to an exact point.

The two "A" buttons below the tempo, toggle on/off the automation read mode and automation record mode. Automation is discussed in a later chapter.

The next five buttons provide standard tape-deck style play, record, return to zero, rewind, and fast forward functions.

Play: Clicking on this button starts playback, clicking it again will stop the transport. Keyboard shortcut: **SPACE**.

Record: This button starts recording from all input device channels that are "record armed". Keyboard shortcut: \mathbf{R} .

Return to zero: This button moves the play-cursor back to the start of the edit. Keyboard shortcut: **HOME**.

Rewind/fast-forward: These buttons move the play-head cursor backwards or forwards through the edit. A single click moves the play-head to the next snapping location. Holding either of these buttons down causes Tracktion to scroll through the edit until the button is released.

The next series of buttons are toggle controls for various play/record functions. When they are active, their button becomes highlighted. The functions of these buttons will be discussed throughout this user guide.

At the bottom of the transport section there is a CPU usage meter. Use this to monitor how much of your available computing power is being used by the current edit. As CPU usage reaches its maximum, audio stability can be compromised, and pops and clicks may occur during recording and playback.

In addition to the usage meter, you may sometimes see a small exclamation mark ("!") appear on the usage bar. This notifies you that an edit required more data to be read from your hard drive than could physically be achieved.

The final part of the transport section is called the master filter section, and it is here that you can see and edit the overall level of your edit. Think of this as the "master fader" on the virtual mixing console. You can also add filters here and they will be applied to the finished mix. A perfect candidate for this would be the included Final Mix mastering filter.



Figure 3.1.4

3.2 Tracks, clips, and the arrange area

An overview of tracks

If you look at the edit page, you can see that it reflects the flow of the signal path from left to right. Audio or MIDI is received from an input device, it then flows into the arrange area, and then passes into the filter section, where it is effected by the filters, has its volume and panning adjusted, and is then mixed down to stereo. If you were to mentally replace the arrange area with a multi-track recording device, and the filter section with a mixing console, it all starts to make sense.

All input from external devices enters Tracktion through the input devices on the left. That signal then passes into the arrange area, where it joins any previously recorded

material ready to be passed to the filter section on the right. When the signal reaches the filter section, it passes serially from the left-most filter on the track to the right-most, being processed by each as it goes. Finally, the signal leaves the track for master outputs.

Figure 3.2.1 shows a schematic diagram of this arrangement.



Figure 3.2.1

The main thing to take from this explanation is that signal always runs from left to right in Tracktion, and that each track is a recording device and mixer channel all in one.

To add a new track to an edit:

- Click the "tracks" button in the control section.
- Select the "create new track" option. Keyboard shortcut: **CTRL** + **T** (**CMD** + **T** for Mac users).
- The new track will be inserted under the currently selected track, or at the bottom of the edit if no track is selected.

To adjust the height of the tracks such that they all fit on screen, choose the "fit all tracks on screen" option from the "tracks" button pop-up. Keyboard shortcut: F8.

To reset the height of all tracks to the default, select the "Set all tracks to default height" option from the "tracks" button pop-up. Keyboard shortcut: F9.

An overview of clips

Songs in Tracktion are built up from individual "clips". These clips are placed on tracks, where they can be arranged into a composition. A clip is a container for an audio file, or MIDI data. An audio clip might contain a recorded vocal, or guitar part. MIDI clips contain instructions that tell instruments (either a virtual VST instrument plug-in, or an external MIDI hardware instrument) what notes to play.

The track properties

Clicking on a track's name in the input section displays the properties for that track (Fig. 3.2.2). As with most things in Tracktion, a number of tracks can be selected at once by holding down the CTRL key (CMD for Mac users), and selecting each item in turn. When multiple tracks are selected however, a few of the options described below are not available.

🔒 track - "track 1"		
name track 1 O mute O solo delete track (freeze track) (render track •	select all clips in track shrink grow mute/unmute all filters auto-advance	destination output for this track:
insert new tracks	advance 0.0 ms	🔩 track 2
insert a new clip move track up move track d	insert into tracks delete marked region	is track 3 Is track 4 Is track 5

Figure 3.2.2

Name: This field allows you to view or set the name of the track(s) as shown in the filter section.

Delete track: This button removes the track(s) from the edit. Keyboard shortcut: DELETE or BACKSPACE.

Insert new tracks: This option adds new tracks to the edit. From this menu you can choose to add a number of tracks at once from a set of preset numbers. You can also add a single track by pressing CTRL + T (CMD + T for Mac users). New tracks will be inserted between the currently selected track and the next track.

Insert new clip: When this button is clicked, a pop-up menu is shown from which you can choose the type of clip to add. The new clip will be placed on the current track. If there is a loop region set then the new clip will fill that region, otherwise a new clip of arbitrary length will be created at the cursor point.

- Insert new MIDI clip: adds a new MIDI clip to the edit. MIDI clips are detailed in a later chapter. Keyboard shortcut: G
- Insert new audio clip: adds a new audio clip to the edit. Audio clips are detailed in a later chapter.

Move track up/down: These options allow you to move the track up or down in the tracklist order. You can also reposition a track in the list by dragging on the track's name.

Destination output for this track: By default all tracks send their output to whatever two output channels you have designated as your "default audio device". This is similar to how on a 2-bus mixer, all individual channels are automatically routed to the master stereo output. If you wish to have audio sent to an alternate audio device, or have the MIDI data from a track sent to external MIDI gear, just select the desired output from this list. You can also send the output of a track, or even a number of tracks, to another track.

3.3 Handy shortcuts for working with tracks

Mac users: Replace the **CTRL** key with the **CMD** key. Replace the **ALT** key with the **OPTION** key.

Creating, naming, and deleting, shortcuts

CTRL + T: Insert a new track into the edit. **TAB** (when track selected): Automatically highlights the track name area so it is ready to type a name in **DELETE** or **BACKSPACE**: Remove selected track(s).

Zooming and Viewing Shortcuts

Mouse-wheel (+ SHIFT): Zoom in/out horizontally (scroll through edit).
F5: Zoom out to fit the entire edit on screen.
F6: Zoom to show a few seconds around the cursor.
F7: Zoom in to show marked region.
F8: Rescale all tracks vertically to fit on screen.
CTRL + F8: Rescale all tracks vertically and horizontally to fit on screen.
F9: Set all tracks to the default height.
Z: Expand or contract the current track height.

Navigation shortcuts

CTRL + HOME: Scroll up to top-most track. CTRL + END: Scroll down to bottom-most track. SHIFT + CURSOR UP / DOWN: Scroll tracks up / down. SHIFT + CURSOR LEFT / RIGHT: Scroll tracks left / right. ALT + CURSOR UP / DOWN (when track selected) : Select track above / below current track.

Miscellaneous

CTRL + SHIFT + I: Show / hide the input section. **CTRL + SHIFT + F**: Show / hide the filter section.

Loop Marker shortcuts

I: Set the In marker to the current play-head cursor location.

0: Set the Out marker to the current play-head cursor location.

[: Set the play-head cursor to the location of the In marker.

]: Set the play-head cursor to the location of the Out marker.

M: Set the In and Out markers around the currently selected clip.

Chapter 4: Working with audio

4.1 A brief introduction to digital audio

Before we look at recording and working with audio in Tracktion, it may be helpful to look at a few of the basics about digital audio. If you have only recorded audio in analogue form before now, there are a few rules you will need to unlearn, as well as few principles you may find helpful to keep in mind. Of course, if you are comfortable working with digital audio already, you may just want jump straight into the next section.

Before we dive into the technical stuff, let us first give a quick word of warning about digital recording levels. You may be used to recording with analogue hardware, and if so you have almost certainly, at some point, made recordings where the level meters are bouncing into the red areas. This is a habit you need to break when working with digital. Whilst there are some practical and artistic benefits to recording a little hot with analogue recorders, when it comes to recording digitally, the level meters should be kept below the red at all times. Digital recorders are very unforgiving with audio that goes beyond the maximum level, and such peaks will result in a most unpleasant digital distortion. Aim to get your input levels at a medium-high, but without ever hitting the OdB mark, and if unsure, err on the side of caution.



Figure 4.1.1

Figure 4.1.1 shows the waveform of a simple percussive pattern. The waveform at the top is the audio belonging to the left-hand stereo channel, while the waveform at the bottom belongs to the right-hand channel. This image is a graph of amplitude and time, where amplitude is measured on the vertical axis, and time is measured across the horizontal axis. If you know that this audio file contains a single bar of a drum pattern, you can probably see that each of the high peaks represents an individual percussive hit. Look closely at each of the peaks above and you can see that they all tend to reach the peak amplitude very quickly. Once at their peak amplitude, they decay over a short period of time, and finally fade to silence over a slightly longer period of time. If you think about the sound that percussive instruments such as snares make, you should be able to see the correlation between the sound described by Figure 4.1.1, and the sound of an actual drum part.

That digital audio is a measurement of amplitude over time may not come as a surprise to you, after-all this describes analogue recordings too. Where digital does differ from analogue though, is in how the amplitude and time measurements are made.

Sample resolution (or bit depth)

Although perhaps a strange analogy, a thermometer is a good model for describing what sample resolution is. Imagine you have a thermometer that was graded from the freezing point of water through to the boiling point. The accuracy with which you could measure the temperature of a cup of tea would be dependent on how finely gradated the thermometer scale is. If it showed a scaled that jumped in increments of 10 degrees it would clearly be less accurate than a thermometer that offered a scale in terms of single degrees.

So, how does this tie in to digital audio? Reading a thermometer is largely a digital process. That is to say, whilst there is theoretically an infinite spread of possible temperatures between freezing and boiling, if you were to record them, you'd be using finite approximations. The temperature may be 50.2 degrees, but you would write down 50 degrees. This is exactly what happens with digital audio. The number of tick marks shown between the minimum and maximum temperature can be thought of as the sampling resolution.

Figure 4.1.2 shows what happens to a sine wave when the amplitude is measured. The first image shows the sine wave when only two states are possible, either on or off. The second image shows the same sine wave reproduced with slightly less coarse graduations. Finally, the third image shows how increasing how increasing the sampling resolution produces a greatly more accurate impression of the original sine wave. So, when people talk about bit-depth, what they are in effect describing is how accurately an audio signal's amplitude can be measured.



Figure 4.1.2

Getting back to that thermometer for a second; what happens if the temperature being measured exceeds the boiling point of water? Well, in short, the temperature cannot be accurately recorded; you would have to log it as "off the scale." If, for example, you were to heat a beaker of water to just above boiling, then allow it to cool, a chart showing temperature over time might look something like Figure 4.1.3.

Because the thermometer cannot measure temperatures above boiling, a whole section of the chart has been cut off (or clipped). Exactly the same thing happens when audio is being recorded digitally. Any audio that exceeds the maximum recordable level is simply clipped which produces a very unmusical form of distortion.





Tracktion 2

CD audio has a resolution of 16-bits. Modern sound cards and computer audio interfaces can record at 24-bits. A big advantage of recording at these higher bit depths is that you can reduce your input level enough to ensure that digital clipping is very unlikely to occur, whilst still maintaining a resolution that is greater than CD.

Sample frequency (or sample rate)

It is all very well having an accurate recording device, but recordings need to also be made frequently enough to be meaningful. If you were to take the temperature outside of your home, you would expect to obtain different results at different times of the day. If you were to look at your thermometer only at midday though, you only ever see one temperature, and you could be forgiven for thinking that it pretty much stays constant all day long. This is because your sampling frequency matches the frequency of the temperature cycle. To get a more accurate idea of how temperature changes throughout the day, you'd need to at least double the frequency of measurements, and take a second reading at midnight. In sampling terms, the need to record at a frequency at least double the highest desired frequency is known as Nyquist's Theorem. It is also the reason why CDs are recorded at 44.1 kHz, when the human ear can only hear up to around 20 kHz.

The sample frequency, therefore, is quite literally the number of times per second that the amplitude of an audio signal is measured.

When choosing a sample rate to record and work at, it is usually best to simply opt for whatever frequency at which your work will be distributed. If, for example, you are making music, and intend to have it printed to CD, you should probably work at 44.1 kHz.

Tip: If you wish to work at higher frequencies, and render down to a lower frequency when your project is complete, it is probably best to work at direct multiples of your target sample rate, e.g., 44.1 kHz and 88.2 kHz.

4.2 Recording and importing audio

There are two different ways of working with the filter section: the per-track view, and the icon view. You can select which view to use from the "options" button located in the control section at the bottom-left of the edit page.

Icon view

If you are using the icon view, you will see all of your input devices (both audio inputs and MIDI controller inputs) as icons arranged in the filter section. Drag your chosen audio input device to the track you wish to record on. To arm the input, drag it to right. When it is close enough to the track, the tip of the arrow will "attach" to the track name, indicating the



Figure 4.2.1

track is armed for recording. (Fig. 4.2.1). You can unarm the input by dragging it to the left until the arrow disappears.

Per-track view

To select an audio input device, click and drag slightly on the shaded input region to the left of the track name. This will display a pop-up menu, from which you can select your desired input (Fig. 4.2.2).

non-solid with a bar across it, the input is unarmed.



Input devices in the per-track view can be enabled or disabled by clicking the large red "R" icon. If the icon is solid red, then the input is armed. Otherwise, if the icon is



Figure 4.2.2

Ensure that your input is armed if you want to record on the track it is attached to.

Tip: The "assign all inputs to consecutive tracks" option in the per-track view pop-up menu (Fig. 4.2.2) allows you to quickly line up all of your audio inputs ready for recording. This is very useful if you are multi-track recording a band.

Then, you can quickly arm or un-arm all inputs by choosing the "enable/disable all devices for recording option from the pop-up menu. Keyboard shortcut: ALT + R (for Mac use CTRL + R).

Monitoring the input

The input icon contains a small level meter, which should be responding to any incoming signal at this point.

If you need to monitor levels visually from some distance or just want to bask in the glow of some really big meters, Tracktion has a "large meters" for just this purpose. To activate it, click the "options" button located at the bottom-left of the edit page, and choose the "show big input level meters" menu option. Keyboard shortcut: CTRL + ALT + M (for Mac uses CMD + CTRL + M).

Readying the source material

Whilst it is possible to adjust the input gain on the input properties, it is far better to always get the input levels as good as possible before the audio reaches your audio input device. If the signal reaching Tracktion is too quiet, increasing the gain will raise the noise-floor too. If, on the other hand, the signal is too loud, digital clipping will occur at the analogue to digital converters (ADCs) of your audio input device. Once this clipping is present, it cannot be removed, and will still be present even if you lower the "input gain" control in Tracktion.

To get the optimum recording level, start by setting the input gain to 0 dB, and adjusting the levels of the source material such that the signal in Tracktion never reaches the 0 dB line on the input meters. Leaving yourself about 6 dB of headroom will not dramatically lower the resulting quality, but will give you some protection against peaks and spikes in the recorded material.

Working with the click-track

If you want to record along to a click-track, you can start the click at any time by clicking the "click track" button and selecting the "turn on click track" option from the pop-up menu. You can also use the keyboard shortcut key C to toggle the click-track. Using the click-track can help keep performances in time, which in addition to providing a generally tighter feel, can also make it easier to edit and work with recorded audio.

The options available from the "click track" button allow you to set the click to your taste. In particular, you may want to check the "pre-record count-in length" value, as this defines the amount of time click track plays before recording starts.

Recording in normal mode

To record a continuous take:

- Ensure that punch mode (keyboard shortcut: **P**) and loop mode (keyboard shortcut: **L**) are both inactive. The punch and loop buttons can be found in the transport section. Clicking on the options toggles them on and off.
- Place the play-head cursor at the point from which you wish to start recording.
- Record enable the appropriate track.
- Click the record button to start recording. Keyboard shortcut: R.
- When you are done, click the "stop" button to stop recording. Keyboard shortcut: **SPACE**.

Recording in punch mode

Punch mode causes recording to only take place when the play-head cursor is in the region between the loop-start and loop-end markers.

You could, for example, use this feature to have a vocalist re-do a single line of a recorded vocal. To help the vocalist prepare, playback could be started a verse earlier than the punch-in point. In this way, they can sing along to the existing material without altering it, to get prepared. When the play-head reaches the punch-in point, recording would start, and the existing vocal take would be replaced by the new recording. Finally, when the play-head reaches the punch-out point, recording would stop.

To record in punch mode:

- Ensure that punch mode is active, and that loop mode is inactive.
- Set the In and Out markers to your desired punch in and out points. The In and Out markers can be set by dragging them to the desired location.
- Position the play-head cursor at some point prior to the In marker.
- Record enable the appropriate track.
- When you are ready, click the record button to start the recording.
- Tracktion will automatically drop out of record though playback will continue, when the play-head leaves the marked region.

Tip: To cancel a recording, and have Tracktion delete the recorded material, use the following keyboard shortcut: PC users **CTRL** + **R**. Mac users **CMD** + **R**.

Tip: Usually, you will want to replace any material previously on the track between the In and Out markers with the newly recorded audio. To be sure this happens, select the input device and make sure the record mode listed in the properties area is set to "replace old clips in edit with new ones."

Recording in looped mode

Loop record mode will loop through the region between the In and Out markers just like regular looped play mode. A separate recording take will be made for every repeat of the loop. When the recording is finished, the resultant audio clip will contain all of the takes as layers. Figure 4.2.3 shows a clip with multiple takes available.



Figure 4.2.3

To record in loop mode:

- Ensure that loop mode is active.
- Disable punch mode. Looped recording cannot be used when punch mode is active.
- Set the In and Out markers around your desired loop region
- Record enable the appropriate track.
- When you are ready, click the record button to start the recording.
- Stop the record when you are done by clicking the "stop" button.
- The resultant audio clip will have a small "+" symbol at the bottom-right corner. Click this symbol to see a drop down menu of the available takes.
- To review a take, simply select it from the list and it becomes the active, visible take for playback.
- When you have selected the perfect take, you can use the "delete wavefiles for unused takes" option to remove any unneeded takes.

Loop mode is also perfect for recording repeat takes of a performance and then editing together the best bits of each take for a perfectly assembled "composite take". This method has been responsible for more polished vocal performances than anyone cares to admit.

The above scenario could be executed as follows:

- Record three loop takes as described above, and click the "stop" button when you are done.
- Review the three takes, and choose the one that needs the least correction.

34

- Make copies of the new clip on two other tracks by holding down the **CTRL + SHIFT** keys (**CMD + SHIFT** for Mac users) and dragging the clip to the two other tracks. The **SHIFT** modifier forces this clip to keep its current time location.
- For each of the two new clips, select one of the unused vocal takes.
- Disable snap-to-grid. Keyboard shortcut: **Q**.
- To use sections from the two extra takes to correct errors in the best take, select the clip you wish to copy from.
- Set the play-head cursor at the point you wish to begin splicing. Use the / key to split the clip. Do the same at the splice end point.
- Use the SHIFT modifier, and drag the spliced audio section onto the primary take.
- Repeat the last two steps for each correction you wish to make.
- Select the primary clip to display its properties.
- Click the "delete region" button, and choose "delete any parts of selected clip(s) that overlap others." This option automatically trims the main clip to make room for the corrections.

Importing audio

Existing audio files can be imported into Tracktion from your hard drive or from CDs. Tracktion can even copy audio tracks from CDs into your project. These audio files may, for example, be 3rd party drum-loops for use in your own work, or complete tracks of audio that have been exported from another sequencer, or a hard drive recorder.

To import audio into an edit, click the "import" button and choose whether you want to import an audio file, or a CD audio track, from the pop-up menu (Fig. 4.2.4). The **A** key acts as a keyboard shortcut for importing audio files.

Tracktion can import AIFF, WAV, and OGG files.



Figure 4.2.4

To import an audio file into an edit:

- Select the track on to which you wish to place the new audio file.
- Set the play-head cursor position at the point the audio should be located.
- Press the A key.
- From the dialogue box, select the file you wish to import.

If you import files from a removable disc such as a CD, Tracktion will automatically make a copy of the file in the project folder, otherwise the audio will be referenced from its location on your hard drive.

If you import a "broadcast wave" format audio file, the file's time-stamp information will determine where it is placed.

The import CD tracks option shows the list of audio tracks available on an inserted audio CD, and gives options for selecting the region to copy from the audio CD. Mac users can import Audio from a CD by using the "import an audio or midi file..." option. The imported audio is stored in your project folder, and a new audio clip will be created at the current play-head cursor position.

Importing Mackie .prj projects files

Users of the Mackie HDR, MDR, or SDR hard disk recorders can import their projects into Tracktion for editing and mixing. This is very useful for users who wish to track an ensemble on location with their hard disc recorder, but then import the audio and edits into Tracktion for further overdubs and the final mixing stage.

When the "import a Mackie .prj project file..." option (see Fig. 4.2.4 on previous page) is chosen you will be prompted for the path of the .prj file. Once a suitable project file has been selected, Tracktion will import the audio files (original and edited) into the edit. Track names will also be imported.

HDR users should note, however, that non-destructive fades, looped audio clips, and volume envelopes are not imported. If you have any important fades, loops, or envelopes in your project, render these tracks on the HDR first. All other edits will be accurately imported. Also, only the first virtual track is imported, so be sure the take you wish to include is located on the first virtual track.

It is worth noting that Tracktion does not make local copies of your audio files when importing .prj files, so you may wish to copy the project folder from your Mackie HDR to your computer's hard drive before importing the project into Tracktion.

For example:

- Create a new Tracktion project in an empty folder on your computer.
- Copy (or move) the HDR project into your new Tracktion project folder. You can transfer projects via FTP, or by connecting the HDR device to a Mackie HDR Pro FireWire drive bay (or many of the third party drive bays available). Be sure to leave the Mackie Hard Disk Recorder Project folder structure intact.
- In Tracktion, open the default edit for editing.
- Select the "import a Mackie .prj project file..." option from the "import" button's pop-up menu.
- Navigate the dialogue box to the .prj file for your project.
- After a few moments, you should see your project ready for editing in Tracktion.

Note: You should ensure that your HDR, MDR, or SDR unit has the latest operating system installed; otherwise, imports may not work correctly. The latest operating system updates can be obtained from http://www.mackie.com.
4.3 Working with audio clips

When you record or import audio into Tracktion, it will be presented in the edit page as an audio clip. These clips provide tools for editing and working with your audio, and a convenient way to arrange audio parts into a song.

Non-destructive editing

One of the most useful and fundamental aspects of clips is that you can edit and resize them non-destructively.

To understand audio clips, and indeed clips in general, it is useful to know that a clip doesn't actually contain any audio. Rather it can more helpfully be imagined as a window onto an audio file. What does that mean? Imagine a piece of cardboard with a square cut out of it. If you lay that piece of the cardboard on a page of text, you will only be able to see a small region of text at any one time. The hole is obviously a window in this case, and the text you can see through it is determined entirely by the position of the window, and its size.

An audio clip's relationship to an audio file works in the same way as the piece of cardboard over a piece of paper. The text you can see is not part of the cardboard; it is just what is visible through it. Similarly, the audio shown in a clip is not part of the clip, but rather the clip is acting as a window to the individual audio file.

By changing the position and size of a clip, you can show or hide as much of an audio file as you want at a given point in your song. Figure 4.3.1 shows an audio clip displaying just the middle section of an audio file.

A single audio file may be used by many different clips in a single edit, and each clip may not only be showing different sections of the file, but even applying unique processes to it.



Figure 4.3.1

What "non-destructive editing" means then, is that splitting, trimming, and resizing clips, does not affect the underlying audio file in any way. If you shorten a clip, some of its contents may appear to be lost, but if you then re-stretch it back to its original size the contents will still be there. In short, any changes you make to a clip's size are only as permanent as you want them to be. Not only does this provide an extra-ordinarily flexible way of working, it also brings great peace of mind when making experimental edits to audio clips.

User's Guide

Working with the clip tools

When a clip is selected (by clicking on the body of the clip with the mouse), the clip becomes highlighted and the title-bar of the clip displays a collection of tools for working with the clip (Fig. 4.3.2).



Figure 4.3.2

- **The main title-bar:** To move a clip to a new location in an edit, click anywhere on the title-bar other than on the tool icons, and drag the clip to the desired location.
- A and B: The two squares located in the centre of the title-bar are used to slide the clip or its contents around. Dragging on the hollow square icon (labelled A) allows you to move the clip forwards or backwards along the time-line without moving the contents of the clip. This would be like sliding that piece of cardboard over the page. The solid square icon (labelled B) is the inverse of the first function in that the clip stays still, but the contents are moved. If this was our hypothetical piece of cardboard, the effect would be just like holding the cardboard still whilst moving the page underneath it. Note that you cannot shift the clip beyond the boundaries of the source material. Once either edge of the source material has been reached, these options will cease to function.
- **C:** Audio clips have built in support for volume fades that can be set by dragging the two envelope icons (labelled C) to the desired envelope break points. The left-most envelope icon allows you to set a fade in period, whilst the right-most allows you to set a fade out period. The shape of the fade is controlled by an option in the clip properties.
- **D** and **E**: The size of the clip can be adjusted by dragging on either of the two arrow icons to each side of the title-bar.

The hollow arrow icon (labelled E) simply resizes the clip, leaving the position of the contents fixed in relation to the edit. Visually this is like making the hole in that cardboard a different size whilst keeping the cardboard stationary. Typically you might use this tool to remove silence from the beginning or end of a recorded audio clip.

The solid icon (labelled F) also resizes the clip, but in this case, the clip contents will be fixed in relation to the side of the clip being adjusted. Note that you cannot resize the clip beyond the boundaries of the source material. Once either edge of the source material has been reached, these options will cease to function.

Holding down the **ALT** (**OPTION** for Mac users) key whilst resizing the clip with these controls causes them to switch to stretch mode. In this case, the visible area of the clip contents stays fixed, but is stretched to match the new clip size.

Scrubbing audio clips

In addition to the main tools provided on the clip's title-bar, you can also "scrub" the clip's audio.

Double-clicking on the clip begins causes playback of the clip to begin of audio at the pointer position. Dragging the play-head cursor can then be used to scrub the clip.

To stop the clip playback, just click anywhere outside of the clip.

Tip: You can open the source audio for a clip in an external audio editor. Right-click on an audio clip and select the "edit using.." option, or the keyboard shortcut **CTRL** + **W** (**CMD** + **W** for Mac users).

4.4 Troubleshooting audio problems

Note: Clicking an input device icon will show the properties for that device in the properties-panel.

"I can't hear my audio input, and I can't see a signal on the meters."

- Ensure that the "input gain" control in the input device's properties is set to at least 0 dB.
- Check that your audio cables are correctly connected to the source, and to your audio input device.
- If the audio is being passed through any mixers or effects processors, make sure that they are correctly configured and mute buttons have not been activated by mistake.
- Try a different source, and if possible, try a different input device.

"I can see a signal on the meters, but I can't hear anything."

- Verify that you have the correct input device connected to a track.
- Ensure that "enable end-to-end" is activated in the input device's properties. In addition, ensure the "e-to-e" is activated in the transport section.

"I can't hear my audio unless I'm recording."

• Ensure that "enable end-to-end" is activated in the input device's properties. In addition, ensure the "e-to-e" is activated in the transport section.

"I can hear my monitored signal OK, but when I finish recording, there is nothing there."

- Check the "trigger level" option in the input device's properties is not set to too high a value. If unsure, reduce it to "-INF".
- Make sure the "record mode" option in the input device's properties is not set to "don't make recordings from this device."

"My recordings are distorted."

• Reduce the level of the source material.

"My recordings contain pops and clicks."

Typically this is caused when too high a demand is placed on computer resources. For more information, see the section on hardware requirements, and improving performance. Note, background tasks running on your computer such as virus checkers can also cause these kinds of problems.

4.5 Handy audio clip and recording shortcuts

Mac users: Replace the **CTRL** key with the **CMD** key. Replace the **ALT** key with your **CTRL** key.

Record mode

L: Toggle loop mode. P: Toggle punch mode.

Recording

R: Start recording.
CTRL + R: Abort recording and delete all recorded material.
SPACE: Stop recording.
C: Toggle click-track.
ALT + R: Arm/un-arm all input devices.

Editing

A: Import an audio file.
/: Split selected clip(s) at the current play-head cursor location.
DELETE or BACKSPACE: Delete selected clip(s).
CTRL + M: Delete selected clip(s) and source audio file(s).
CTRL + C: Copy selected clip(s).

CTRL + X: Cut selected clip(s).

CTRL + V: Paste clipboard contents.

CTRL + I: Insert clipboard contents at current play-head cursor location.

CTRL + W: Open the source audio file in an external audio editor.

CTRL + LEFT / RIGHT CURSOR: Move the selected clip(s) to the next previous snap location.

CTRL + UP / DOWN CURSOR: Move the selected clip(s) to the track above or be low their current track.

SHIFT + drag: Move the selected clip(s) to a different track, maintaining their off set from the current snapping grid.

Double-click: Starts playback of the clip at the current pointer position.

Markers

M: Set In and Out markers around selected clip(s).

I: Move the In marker to the current play-head cursor location.

O: Move the Out marker to the current play-head cursor location.

[: Move the play-head cursor to the In marker.

]: Move the play-head cursor to the Out marker.

Chapter 5: Working with MIDI

5.1 A brief introduction to MIDI

If you are unfamiliar with MIDI, then perhaps the best analogy to start working with is one of those old player pianos -- the kind with a large roll of punched paper that allows the piano to play itself. MIDI is a modern version of that punched roll; it tells an instrument what notes to play, and a little about how to play them. In fact, it is from these devices that the term "piano roll" used to describe MIDI editors in sequencers is derived.

A common misconception is to see MIDI data as being the sound. It is important to realise that MIDI is little more than a list of instructions that an instrument can follow. Much like a sheet of musical score, MIDI data by itself is not sound.

In practical terms, MIDI data is made up of three types of MIDI events: note events, controller events, and program changes. In reality, these groups are not quite so clear-cut, and there are other types, such as system exclusive (sysex) messages. For most users, the three groups listed above are all you really need to know.

Note events

A MIDI note event tells an instrument to play or stop playing a given note. When a key is struck on a keyboard, a MIDI note-on event is generated. The note-on event tells any attached MIDI devices which note was played, and the velocity with which it was struck. The MIDI note is considered to be held until a note-off event is generated by releasing the key. Velocity typically corresponds to "loudness," but it may also affect the timbre of a sound; consider the way a piano sounds when keys are struck hard.

Controller events

Most synthesizer keyboards have pitch bend and modulation wheels that allow the keyboardist to add extra character to a performance. These controls generate controller events that typically are used to change some nature of a sound over time. The modulation wheel for example may add a vibrato effect to a synthesizer performance. Most controllers are known as "continuous controllers" as they maintain their current state without needing to be held. In the same way that the modulation wheel will physically stay where you leave it, so to will the control changes generated by the wheel.

Technically pitch-bend is not a continuous controller, but for the purposes of working with Tracktion, it can be regarded as one.

Program changes

A program (commonly referred to as a patch) in MIDI terms is one of the different preset sounds available on a MIDI device. A typical synthesizer may be able to emulate pianos, organs, violins, and bass sounds. Each of these different sounds would be a program. A special set of controller events can be used to change the current program on a MIDI device, but Tracktion makes it even easier by offering tools and options to insert program changes into edits.

MIDI Channels

Many MIDI devices are capable of playing more than one instrument at a time. Such devices are referred to as being "multi-timbral." A multi-timbral MIDI device may be able to play a piano part, a percussive part, a bass part, and a flute, all at the same time. In order for the device to know which instruments are expected to play a given note received from Tracktion, the instruments are each assigned to one of 16 MIDI channels.

You can think of a MIDI channel as being broadly like a radio channel. In the same way that an FM tuner may be tuned to a radio station, the instruments in the MIDI device will only respond to MIDI events that are transmitted on their channel.

Each MIDI clip in Tracktion can be assigned a MIDI channel, and all midi events from the clip will be sent on this midi channel. To make sure that a MIDI clip is played by the piano, therefore, you would simply set the MIDI channel for the clip to match the piano's channel.

There are 16 MIDI channels available for every physical MIDI output. It is not a rule, but it is convention that MIDI channel 10 is used for percussion.

Working with MIDI in Tracktion

You can enter MIDI into Tracktion either by recording a performance from a MIDI controller keyboard, drum pad, etc, or by entering the notes by hand. In addition, Tracktion features a handy hybrid of these two approaches, called "step editing."

Before you can record or playback MIDI, it is necessary to select a MIDI instrument to receive the midi data, and produce sound from this MIDI data.

There are two types of MIDI instrument you can use with Tracktion:

VST instruments

VST instruments, or VSTis, are synthesiser plug-ins that can be added to the filter section just like effects. Typically, such filters will be displayed with a piano icon in the new-filter list.

Software instruments should always be the first plug-in on the track, as other filters may stop the MIDI data reaching the instrument plug-in.

VST instruments are often a more convenient instrument to use than an outboard hardware instrument, because the audio they produce is already inside Tracktion and ready to be mixed with other Tracktion tracks.

Hardware instruments

If you have MIDI sound-module hardware that you wish to control through Tracktion, you need to ensure that a MIDI cable has been connected between the "MIDI IN" of this device, and the "MIDI OUT" of your computer's MIDI interface.

In addition, if you wish to hear the audio output of the hardware MIDI instrument through Tracktion, you need to connect the audio outputs of the device to one of your computer's audio inputs as if you were intending to record it.

5.2 Using external MIDI gear

To control external MIDI hardware from Tracktion, you need to:

- Choose the track that will contain the MIDI events for this device.
- Select the track by clicking on its name. This will display the track properties (Fig. 5.2.1).
- There is a large box on the right of the properties-panel labelled "destination output for this track." Click the MIDI output device that is attached to your hardware and a check will be displayed next to it.



Figure 5.2.1

Tip: Many different tracks can send to one MIDI output device, so you can assign a different track to each MIDI channel for multi-timbral synthesizers.

Once the output is set up, your external device should be receiving MIDI from Tracktion. If you are sending program changes to the MIDI device, it is a good idea to do so at the very start of the edit, and leave a bar or so before any notes are sent, since program changes can take a while to process on some MIDI hardware.

Note: Take care that there are no unnecessary filters on tracks used for external MIDI as many filters do not pass MIDI data.

5.3 Working with virtual instruments, and MIDI filters

Working with virtual instruments such as VSTis is easy in Tracktion. Simply drag the "new filter..." icon to the filter section of a track, placing it at the start of the filter line, and select a virtual instrument from the filters list.

Filters that can act as virtual instruments will have a small piano icon to the right of their name in the list. This helps you quickly differentiate them, in the filters list, from traditional effects plug-ins.

Once the virtual instrument has been added to a track, any MIDI clips on that track will be played by the VST instrument filter.

Note: Unlike for external MIDI devices, tracks containing virtual instruments should always have the track output destination set to an audio device (usually the default one, like any other track producing audio), or another track that itself outputs to an audio device.

It is possible for filters other than virtual instruments to receive MIDI. Some effects plug-ins can receive MIDI. It is also possible for filters to act as MIDI processors that can alter or even generate MIDI data. An example of this is the Tracktion volume/pan filter. When the "apply to MIDI velocities" option is selected, this filter can be used to scale velocities on a track. There are many MIDI only filters available on the Internet too. These range from simple MIDI processors, to fully featured pattern editors, and arpeggiators.

Multiple output VSTis

Whilst most virtual instruments offer only a standard stereo output, there are some (usually drum machines and samplers) that have multiple outputs. This can be extremely useful, allowing you to do things like send each individual drum instrument to its own track, where they can be individually equalized, compressed, and processed, just like a drum kit recorded in a studio with multiple microphones.

If you wish to use these VST instruments to this type of full potential, rather than only using the main stereo output channels of the VSTi, you will need to wrap them in a rack filter. The reference manual on your Tracktion install CD discusses rack filters in detail, but here we will just look at using them for this specific task.

- Place the multiple-output VSTi on a track as normal.
- Right-click on the VSTi filter, and select the "wrap this filter in a rack" option.
- The VSTi will be replaced by a rack filter, and the rack editor should be visible. (You should see something like Figure 5.3.1). Notice a single MIDI Input is sent to the plug-in that generates six audio outputs.



Figure 5.3.1

• With your rack ready, you simply need to place copies of it on as many tracks as you have outputs of the VSTi you wish to use (Fig. 5.3.2). Keep in mind that mono outputs will need a track to themselves.



Figure 5.3.2

User's Guide

- Click on each rack filter icon in turn, and from the "left/right output comes from" boxes, choose the VSTi output(s) you want to connect to the current track (Fig. 5.3.3).
- Click the "racks" button, or press **CTRL** + **G** (**CMD** + **G** for Mac users) to hide the rack editor.

rack RM III w	<none> 1. RM L1 2. RM R1</none>	ents dry: -II	NF dB wet: +0.0 dt	enabled	delete filter
left input goes to:	3. RM M1 4. RM M2	left input level	+0.00 dB	V	link inputs
right input goes to:	5. RM M3 6. RM M4	right input level	+0.00 dB	V_	
left output comes from:	1. RM L1	left output level	+0.00 dB	V	link outputs
right output comes from:	2. RM R1	🔶 right output level	+0.00 dB	V	

Figure 5.3.3

5.4 Recording MIDI

Assigning a MIDI input to a track, and arming it for recording is performed in the same manner as for audio inputs. The previous chapter details the steps required, so if you haven't already, read that chapter first.

Monitoring the input

MIDI input icons contain a small velocity meter, which should be responding to any incoming signal at this point. If you press a key on a control keyboard, you should see the meter react to the incoming MIDI event.

The large meters mode can also be used for MIDI inputs.

Before recording you should check that the properties for the input device are correctly set. Clicking on the input device icon will display its properties in the properties-panel. Ensure that:

- The MIDI channel your controller transmits on is not disabled. It is OK to enable all of the MIDI channels if unsure.
- The action option is not set to "end-to-end from this device, but don't actually record."
- The quantise field is not set incorrectly. It is OK to leave quantise off, as you can always quantise the clip(s) later.
- The "set all incoming velocities to full" option is not enabled, unless you want it to be.

Note: When MIDI is recorded to parts of a track that already contain other clips, Tracktion can either write the recorded MIDI into the existing clips, replace the clips, or create new clips on top of the existing ones. This behaviour is controlled by the "action" option in the input properties.

Recording in normal mode

To record a continuous take:

- Ensure that punch mode and loop mode are both inactive.
- Place the play-head cursor at the point from which you wish to start recording.
- Record enable the appropriate track.
- Click the record button to start recording.
- When you are done, click the stop button to stop recording.

Recording in punch mode

Punch mode causes recording to only take place when the play-head cursor is in the region between the loop-start and loop-end markers. You can use punch mode to correct a specific region of a MIDI performance.

Punch mode cannot be used at the same time as loop mode.

To record in punch mode:

- Ensure that punch mode is active, and that loop mode is inactive.
- Set the loop markers to your desired punch in and out points.
- Position the play-head cursor at some point prior to the loop-start marker.
- Record enable the appropriate track.
- When you are ready, click the record button to start the recording.
- Recording will automatically stop, though playback will continue, when the play-head leaves the marked region.

5.5 The MIDI editor

The basic tools for working with MIDI clips are the same as those for audio clips, except that MIDI clips do not offer the fade-in/out tool. When MIDI clips are of sufficient vertical size, however, they display a powerful MIDI editor, or "piano roll." You can switch to the MIDI editor very quickly by either double-clicking on the clip to be edited, or pressing the **Z** key when a MIDI clip is selected.

Figure 5.5.1 shows the MIDI editor, and associated tools. To create a new MIDI clip from scratch, select the track you wish to place the clip, and choose "insert new MIDI clip," or use the keyboard shortcut **G**. The clip will be inserted at the current play-head cursor position.



Figure 5.5.1

The MIDI editor is made up of a number of lanes that run horizontally along the clip. Each of these lanes represents a note on the musical scale. A piano keyboard to the left of the clip shows the relationship between a given lane and the note it represents. As you can see, this arrangement is similar to a staff in standard musical notation.

The range of visible notes can be changed by dragging the piano keyboard with the right mouse button. A default range can be set from the "default midi editor vertical scale" menu option available from the "options" button at the bottom-left corner of the edit page.

To change the octave(s) shown in the editor, drag the piano keyboard vertically with the left mouse button. When the **ALT** key (**CTRL** for Mac users) is held down, you can drag anywhere in the MIDI editor to adjust the currently visible octave(s).

The period of time that a note is held down is represented by the length of the note.

The vertical divisions are the current time-line ticks. As such, by zooming into and out of the edit, you can change the snap resolution in the MIDI editor.

Drawing new notes

When the pencil tool is selected (shortcut \mathbf{D}), clicking on the editor will insert new MIDI notes. The note inserted will start at the location where you clicked, and it will have a length and velocity determined by the "len" and "vel" parameters.

The line tool allows you to draw a line of MIDI notes, all with their length and velocity determined by the "len" and "vel" parameters.

Editing notes

If you wish to transpose a note, or adjust the timing of an incorrectly played note, you can do so by using the select tool. Keyboard shortcut: S.

Clicking on an existing MIDI note when the select tool is active allows you to either move or resize MIDI notes. If the mouse pointer is near the right-hand edge of the note, the cursor will switch to a left/right arrow to indicate you are in resize mode. If the pointer is anywhere else over the note you will be in move mode, and you can simply drag the note to a new location. It is also possible to lasso a group of notes by simply dragging a box around them.

The select mode also allows displays information about currently selected notes in the properties-panel, where a number of useful tools can be found.

Changing the values of the "vel" and "len" parameters will apply the new value to any selected note(s). Conversely, editing the length or velocity of a note by hand will in turn update the "vel" and "len" values.

You can transpose notes without losing their start position by holding down the **SHIFT** key as you move them up or down.

Tip: Some of the features of the select mode are also available when in pencil mode, including the ability to select, resize and move existing notes.

Erasing notes

When the eraser tool (keyboard shortcut: \mathbf{E}) is selected, notes can be removed by simply clicking on them.

You can also delete selected notes by selecting a group of them with the select tool, and clicking the "delete midi notes" button in the properties-panel. Keyboard shortcut: **DELETE** or **BACKSPACE**.

The velocity editor

In addition to the velocity editing functions provided by the "vel" control, and through the note properties, Tracktion has a velocity editor available by selecting the "velocity" option from the MIDI editor tool-bar, or pressing the \mathbf{V} key. Figure 5.5.2 shows the velocity editor.



User's Guide

Each note has a vertical velocity line. The taller the velocity line, the higher the velocity. Editing velocities is as simple as clicking and dragging to the desired level. The line tool can also be used to draw velocity ramps. Note that the eraser tool has no effect when applied to velocities.

Tip: If you wish to edit only the velocities of certain notes, just select those notes with the selector tool. The velocities of any notes not selected will now be fixed.

Editing controller events

To edit controller events, click the "control" button. A view similar to the velocity editor will be displayed (Fig. 5.5.3).



Figure 5.5.3

To the left of the controller event editor is a button labelled "type," which when clicked displays a list of available controllers. If the current clip contains events for a controller, its entry in the list will be shown in a different colour to the other controllers. If you are unsure which control events are contained in a clip, you can use this feature to see at a glance. Selecting a control from this list will cause the editor to show the events, if any, for the chosen controller. In addition, a label at the top-left corner of the editor will show the current controller name and number.

Once you have selected a controller to edit, you can use the pencil, eraser, select, and line tools to edit the events.

Pencil tool: Use this to insert a control change at the cursor location. **Eraser tool:** Use this to remove a control change at the cursor location. **Select tool:** Use this to modify an existing control change at the cursor location. **Line tool:** Use this to draw a line of control changes between the specified start and end points.

If snapping is enabled, control events will be inserted at the current snapping resolution. The **CTRL** key (**CMD** for Mac users) can be used as usual to override the snapping mode, thus allowing the tools to create smoother control change curves.

Step entry

When the step entry mode is activated, any MIDI note received from a MIDI controller attached to the track input will be inserted into the clip at the current play-head cursor position. After the note has been added, the play-head will jump forward to the next snap position, ready for a new note to be input. In this way, you can play a part without needing to worry about being able to play the section live, a useful capability for people with limited playing skills. Step entry can also be handy for entering drum patterns.

If you play a chord, the step editor will treat it as a chord and enter it appropriately.

The "options" button located at the bottom-left of the edit page has a menu option labelled "use incoming velocities for MIDI step entry" (Fig. 5.5.4). When this option is selected, the velocity at which you play each note on your controller keyboard is applied to the step entered note. If this option is disabled, however, the velocity defined by the "vel" setting is used instead.



Figure 5.5.4

The length of the notes is defined by the "len" value.

To insert a rest, or space, in the clip press the `key. This will cause the play-head to jump to the next snap position, without any note being entered.

To work in step entry mode, first ready the track for MIDI recording as if you were about to record live. Now, just set the play-head to the point where you want step editing to begin in the clip, activate the step button, and begin playing your sequence. *Remember to disable step entry mode when finished.*

5.6 Quantising, and working with groove templates

If you have a recorded MIDI part that is a little sloppier in feel than you would like, you can have Tracktion tighten it up by using one of the quantise tools. If, on the other hand, your timing is just a little too tight, or your MIDI clip was recorded using the step entry mode, you can have Tracktion apply a groove template to it.

The quantise and groove template tools can both be used completely non-destructively, so you can make changes and experiment without fear of losing your original work.

To use the quantise or groove tools, simply select the clip you wish to apply the process to. Be careful that you have the clip, and not any individual notes selected, as the groove and quantise tools are non-destructive at the clip level, but make permanent changes when applied to individual notes. Similarly, the quantise tool available for MIDI input devices is permanent in nature, and therefore should be used with care. Figure 5.6.1 shows the MIDI clip properties, where the quantise and groove template tools are located.

🖬 midi c	lip - "new midi clip"	_	_	-	100	-					
name	new midi clip	channel	1	∇	-	quantise	1/:	16 beat		select clips	•
start	1 1 000	volume	0.0 dB		$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$	amount	40 %			auto tempo	•
end	2 1 000	ins	ert progra	m change	·	groove	(1	none)		split dips	·
offset	0 0 000									copy marked secti	on
colour									(move clip	·
show	w/hide midi editor	$) \square$	delete co	ontent	•				(delete region	•
									(delete	•



Quantise

The quantise setting is used to select the quantise grid. The grid is defined in terms of fractions of a beat, so 1/4 of a beat, given a standard 4/4 bar, would be equal to 1/16ths in musical notation. Once this value is set, adjusting the amount control defines how tightly notes are pulled to the quantise grid. A value of zero percent would have no effect on the note events, whereas a value of 100% would be a rigid quantise. Unless the timing of a MIDI clip is particularly sloppy, setting the quantise amount to between 20%-50% is probably a good place to start.

Even though clip quantise in non-destructive in nature, you will see the notes in the clip move around as you adjust the quantise grid, and the quantise amount.

Groove templates

The groove option will display a pop-up menu when you click on it. From this menu, you can select a groove template to be applied to the clip. Unlike with the quantise control, you will not see the groove template changes in the clip, but when you play back the edit you should hear the effect. See the reference guide for more information on applying and creating groove templates.

5.7 Troubleshooting MIDI recording problems

Note: Clicking an input device icon will show the properties for that device in the properties-panel.

"I can't hear anything from my MIDI instruments, and I can't see any signal on the MIDI input device meters."

- Check that all of the "midi filter" channels are activated in the MIDI input device's properties.
- Ensure that you have you MIDI cables hooked up from your MIDI control hardware to Tracktion correctly, and that the MIDI Out of your controller is connected to the MIDI In of the MIDI input device.

"I can see that my MIDI input device is receiving a signal, but my MIDI instrument(s) are not making any sound."

- Verify that you have the correct input device connected to a track.
- Ensure that "enable end-to-end" is activated in the MIDI input device's properties. In addition, ensure the "e-to-e" is activated in the transport section.
- If you are trying to control an external instrument that is playing through any hardware mixers or effects processors, make sure that they are correctly configured and mute buttons have not been activated by mistake.
- If you are trying to control an external instrument that is playing through Tracktion, ensure that the recording options are set up correctly as described in chapter four.

"I can't hear my MIDI devices unless I'm recording."

• Ensure that "enable end-to-end" is activated in the input device's properties. In addition, ensure the "e-to-e" is activated in the transport section.

"Recordings seem to work OK, but when I'm finished there is nothing there."

• Check the "action" option in the input device properties and make sure it is not set to "enable end-to-end but don't record from this device.

5.8 Handy MIDI editing shortcuts

Mac users: Replace the **CTRL** key with the **CMD** key.

Z: Show / hide MIDI editor.

D: Select the pencil tool.

E: Select the eraser tool.

V: Show / hide the velocity editor.

CTRL + LEFT / RIGHT CURSOR: Move the selected note(s) to the next or previous snap location.

CTRL + UP / DOWN CURSOR: Transpose the selected note(s) up or down a semitone from their current location, maintaining their offset from the current snapping grid.

SHIFT + drag: Transpose the selected note(s) to a new note, maintaining their offset from the current snapping grid.

DELETE / BACKSPACE: Delete selected notes.

Chapter 6: Mixing and Adding Effects

6.1 Adding effects and setting levels

A fundamental part of bringing a song to life is the process of setting the volume of all instruments, vocals, and percussive sounds, such that the listener's attention is drawn to the sounds you wish to emphasise, while keeping other sounds clearly audible. Effects processes, such as reverb, may be used to give sounds a sense of position and space. Treatments, such as compression, may be used to give sounds punch or weight without making them too loud. You may even use a little EQ to boost the bass of a kick drum, or maybe roll a little of the treble off an overly bright piano. Tracktion allows you to do all of these things, and much more. Fundamentally, mixing is all about levels, and Tracktion makes this very easy.

When a track is first created it will contain a volume/pan filter, and a level meter. These are the filters you will use for setting levels. In this way, the filter section of each new track represents the functionality of a classic mixing console. Figure 6.1.1 shows the default filter configuration.



Figure 6.1.1

Adding new filters

If you want to add other filters to your tracks, simply drag the icon labelled "new filter..." that is located just above the filter section, and drop it where you want the new filter to be placed. Figure 6.1.2 shows a filter being added to track one. Notice that the area in front of the volume/pan filter is glowing red; this is how you can tell where the filter will be placed. If there is no illumination then you are not currently over a valid target area.



Figure 6.1.2

Once the "new filter" icon has been dropped, a list will appear of available filters will appear. Choose the filter you wish to add to the track from this list.

Filters can be anything from volume/pan controls, to effects such as delays, or reverbs. Filters can even take the form of virtual instruments. Tracktion simply uses the term "filter" to refer to a plug-in, be it native to Tracktion, or a 3rd party plug-in such as a VST plug-in.

The filter order can be changed, and filters can even be moved onto a new track, by simply dragging the filter icons in the same way that you first added them.

Tip: You can copy filters by holding down **CTRL** (**CMD** for Mac users) and dragging an existing filter to a new location. The newly copied filter will also have the same configuration state as the original filter.

Tip: Filters can be applied to a single audio clip by dragging the new filter... icon onto the clip itself. This is especially useful if you wish to apply a special effect to just a small portion of a track.

The volume/pan filter

The left-most filter in Figure 6.1.1 is the volume/pan filter. Clicking on this filter will display the volume and pan settings for the track in the properties-panel (Fig. 6.1.3). You can use the volume and pan sliders to control their respective settings.

Notice how the volume/pan filter icon changes to reflect your pan and volume adjustments. The dark horizontal line shows the level, and the diamond shows the left-right pan position. Even more handily, the pan and level settings can be adjusted directly from the surface of the filter icon. If you move your mouse over a volume/pan filter, you will notice that the pointer will change appearance. Depending on the pointer type, you will be in either pan or volume edit mode:

Pan: Holding the pointer over the horizontal line with the small diamond icon will cause the pointer to switch to a left/right arrow. Clicking and dragging the mouse left or right when the left/right arrow is shown will edit the pan position.

Volume: If you position the pointer anywhere in the boxed region other than the horizontal line, the pointer will switch to an up/down arrow. Clicking and dragging the mouse up or down when the up/down arrow is shown will edit the pan position.

e volum	e & pan filter		_		
volume	-10.31 dB		V	reset volume to 0 dB	mute
pan	-1.000	∇		centre panning	
O apply	to midi veloci	ties			
				enabled	delete filter

Figure 6.1.3

The level meter filter

This filter shows the level of signal passing through it. When selected, the properties panel shows a large form of the level meter, making it easier to adjust your level with precision.

When a level meter clips, red bars will remain on the meter to alert you. Clicking on the meter will clear the clip warning. The \ key clears the clip warning for all meters.

Note: It was stated a few chapters ago that it is bad practise to allow the level of a digital signal to exceed 0 dB. It should be noted that this rule does not apply to the meters on tracks. Input meters, and the master output meter should never be allowed to clip, but tracks can safely exceed 0 dB. This is due to Tracktion's high headroom mix bus. See the reference guide for more information.

The 4-band EQ filter

You can use EQ to remove or strengthen certain frequencies in a sound. For example, to add a little weight to a weak kick drum, sometimes all that is needed is a few dB of gain at around 80 Hz.

If you find that certain sounds in your mix seem to be competing for space, it may well be because they are sharing some frequencies. In this case, by cutting the level of one or both sounds at the problem frequency range, you can often create enough room for them both to peacefully co-exist.

Tracktion ships with a built in 4 band parametric EQ filter. Unlike the volume/pan filter, these EQ filters are not added to tracks by default, so you will need to add them to any tracks you wish to EQ (Fig. 6.1.4).



Figure 6.1.4

Clicking on the EQ filter icon will display the EQ editor in the properties panel. The large circles control the frequency, gain, and slope (Q) of the four EQ bands (Fig. 6.1.5). Dragging the centre square left and right changes the frequency, whereas dragging the square up and down alters the gain.

Tip: The golden rule of EQ: cut should always be used in preference to gain. If your kick and bass sound muddy, trim some of the bass out of one of the sounds, so that the other can sit comfortably below it.

User's Guide

The vertical bars on the EQ editor provide a frequency scale that can be used for orientation. The frequency range runs from left to right, with lower frequencies (bass) on the left, and higher frequencies (treble) on the right.



Figure 6.1.5

The slope is depicted by the shaded segment of the circle, the larger the segment, the steeper the slope. Try clicking within the circle; note how the segment responds to your clicks.

Tip: Notice how the appearance of the EQ filter icon has changes when you make adjustments to the filter curve.

Mute/Solo controls

Each track has a mute/solo switch, located at the far right-hand side of the filter section. These controls can be used to temporarily silence a track, or hear it in isolation.

Clicking the "**M**" mute control temporarily silences a track. When a track is muted, the mute button will be highlighted. Mute can be used to hear a mix without a given instrument. It can be very handy when trying to locate sounds that do not complement each other.

Clicking the "**S**" solo control temporarily silences all tracks but the current one. This is often useful when making changes to EQ, or compression on a track, as subtle changes may not be easy to hear when the full mix is playing. To solo multiple tracks at once, simply CTRL + Click (CMD + Click on the Mac) on multiple solo buttons.

To unmute, or un-solo a track, simply click again on the highlighted mute or solo button.

Tip: It is useful to note that when tracks are muted, any filters contained on the track will cease to use processing power.

6.2 Working with sub-mixes and auxiliary sends

Sub-mixes

When mixing, it is often convenient to group instruments, percussion, or vocals, into sub-mixes that can be treated as one cohesive whole. You may, for example, have each of your percussive sounds spread across the channels of a mixer, but still want to apply a global level and EQ to them. Creating such sub-mixes in Tracktion is simplicity itself.

You may recall from earlier chapters that tracks have an "output destination" option. Well, not only can the output of a track be sent to different physical outputs, it can also be sent to other tracks. In fact, a single track may be the output destination of any number of other tracks, and it is in this way that a group-mix can be created in Tracktion.

Let's imagine that the first five tracks of an edit were comprised of the percussive parts of a song. We could therefore assign track six the task of being the master track for this group, by simply setting the "output destination" field of the first five tracks to "track 6."

1 5 objects of type: Track	_
name kick select all clips in track destination output for this track	
mute O solo Shrink Grow	.] (1 🛆
delete track mute/unmute all filters Delta AP MIDI	
E track 2 (clap)	
track 3	
render tracks	
insert into tracks	
✓ S track 6 (perc master)	
delete marked region	

Figure 6.2.1

- Select "track 6" by clicking on its name field. Edit the track name to something suitable, for example "perc master." You can edit the track name quickly by selecting the track, then pressing the **TAB** key to select the track name field.
- Select tracks one to five by selecting one of these tracks, and then holding down the **CTRL** key (**CMD** for Mac) while selecting the other four.
- Set the "output destination" field to "track 6" as shown in Figure 6.2.1. Note how this setting is applied to all five of the selected tracks.
- Select "track 6", and make sure that the output destination is the default audio output.

Any changes made to the level or filter chain on "track 6" will now be global to all six tracks. In effect, "track 6" has just become a further part of the filter chain for the first five tracks. Audio passes in series through the filters on its own track, then the audio from the five tracks are mixed and is passed in series through the filters on "track 6," before finally reaching the master stereo output.

Auxiliary sends

Effects Loops in Tracktion are created using two complementary filters, the "aux send" filter, and the "aux return" filter. Before setting up an auxiliary send, it is necessary to designate a track the task of being the return track. This track will contain any effects to be applied to each track containing an auxiliary send.

User's Guide

Let's say we have recorded a drum-kit with different mics used to capture the kick, snare, and toms. Assuming the recorded parts are spread across tracks one to three, to apply varying amounts of reverb to each of the percussive sounds we do the following:

- Select track four by clicking on its name field, and rename the track with a meaningful label such as "reverb return." We are going to nominate this track as the return track.
- Place a reverb filter just before the volume/pan filter on track four.
- Place an "aux return" filter just before the reverb filter.
- Select the "aux return" filter, and in the properties click set the "bus" field to "bus #1." Then, in the properties, edit the "bus name" field to read "reverb." Note that the name in the "bus" field, and the "aux return" icon filter itself, will update to reflect the name. This name does not affect the functionality of the send in any way, but it makes it easier to keep track of things when many different send buses are in use.
- Place an "aux send" filter between the level meter filter and the mute/solo control on tracks one, two, and three. The send needs to be after the volume/pan filter otherwise the level of the wet effect would not stay in step with the level of the track. This is called a post-fade send.
- For each of the newly created "aux send" filters set the "bus" field to "bus #1 (reverb)." For the sends to work correctly, they need to be told which return filter to send audio.
- To control how much reverb is added to each of the three audio tracks, adjust the "send" values for relevant "aux send" filter. The track containing the kick drum will typically require a lower send level, than the track containing the snare, for example.

Figure 6.2.2 shows the filter section for a working send/return pair.



Figure 6.2.2

For every extra track to which you wish to make this send available, you simply need to follow the last three steps detailed above. If you want to add new buses, so that in addition to a reverb send you also had chorus and delay sends, you simply need to follow the steps above, but choose a different bus number.

60

Sub-mixes and monitor mixes

It is sometimes desirable for engineers, or some band members, to hear slightly different mixes of a track than the main mix. A common example of this is vocalists wanting to hear themselves with some reverb provided.

Auxiliary sends can be used to create monitor and sub-mixes by following largely the same steps as for making standard reverb style sends, but the return track would be sent to an alternative audio output device.

Let's give our hypothetical vocalist a separate mix to see how that works:

- Create a new track for the sub-mix.
- Set the output destination for this track to be an alternate audio output of your computer audio interface. This output will need to be fed to the vocalist's headphones from the corresponding set of audio outputs from the computer's audio interface.
- Place an "aux return" filter just before the volume/pan filter on this new track, choose an unused bus, and name it "dry send."
- Place a reverb filter just before the new "aux return" filter.
- Place another "aux return" filter just before the reverb filter, choose an unused bus, and name it "vocalist send."
- Place an "aux send" filter between the level meter filter and the mute/solo control on every other track in the edit except the track with the return filters, and the vocalist's input track.
- Select all of the new send filters by selecting one then holding down the **CTRL** key (**CMD** for Mac users).
- Set these sends to use the bus called "dry send".
- Set the send levels to 0 dB.
- Place an "aux send" filter between the level meter filter and the mute/solo control on the vocalist's input track, and set this send to use the "vocalist send" bus. By adjusting the send level for this send, you can mix the vocalist louder or softer than the overall mix for the sub-mix.

Chapter 7: Automation

7.1 Recording and editing automation

Tracktion can record mix settings at different stages in an edit, so it is easy, for example, to have percussive levels mixed louder during choruses, than during verses. Automation can be used to make changes to filter settings, perhaps varying the cut-off/resonance controls of a virtual instrument for that classic dance/techno filter sweep effect. You could perhaps use automation to briefly raise delay and reverb levels -- sometimes a subtle way to catch the listener's attention. It is the changes to levels that and add a sense of life and drama to a mix, and Tracktion's automation system allows you to quickly create and edit, these changes. More importantly, Tracktion makes it easy to the automation events used in songs, so you can see at a glance how your edit develops.

Automation curves can be activated by clicking on the "**A**" symbol at the top-right-hand corner of every track (Fig. 7.1.1). A pop-up list will be shown, from which you can see all of the automatable parameters for the current track. In addition, you can see the parameters for master filters, such as the master volume/pan control.



Figure 7.1.1

Tip: It is also possible to drag the "**A**" icon onto a filter and drop it there, to just see available automation parameters for that filter.

Once a parameter has been chosen, an automation curve will appear on the current track. To create a new point on the curve, click and drag the line at the desired break point location. To create a new point without altering the automation value, just double-click at the desired break point location.



Figure 7.1.2

For example, to create a volume ramp between bars two and three (Fig. 7.1.2), you would simply:

- Click the "A" icon for the track to be edited.
- Select the "volume and pan filter >> volume" parameter from the list. The automation curve for the parameter should now appear.
- Double-click the line at the start of bar two.
- Click and drag the line to a new vertical position at the start of bar three.

When you hold the mouse cursor over an automation point, the parameter level is shown.

Automation curves can be hidden by clicking on the "**A**" symbol, and selecting the "hide automation curves for this track" option. This does not disable or lose the curve, it's purely cosmetic.

Automation data can be temporarily disabled however, by deactivating the "automation read" button in the transport control (Fig. 7.1.3). Keyboard shortcut: **H**.





Unlike other recording software, Tracktion lets you view different parameter automation data on different tracks, simultaneously. This is a much more flexible approach because it let's you view and edit automation of different parameters, on different tracks, quickly and easily.

Recording automation

Next to the "automation read" button shown in Figure 7.1.3, you can see the "automation record button." When this button is active, changes made to parameters during playback are recorded. Keyboard shortcut: \mathbf{Y} .

To record the volume ramp described in the previous section:

- Set the play-head cursor at some point prior to the start of the ramp.
- Activate the record automation button.
- Start play-back of the session by clicking the play key (press play, not record, because you are playing back the session, and only recording automation, not new audio or MIDI).
- When the play-head reaches the point where you want the volume ramp to begin, adjust the volume control slowly over the ramp period to your desired end level.
- Once done, you can stop playback and deactivate the record automation button.

Automation punch-out

When recording automation curves, there are two punch-out options available. Both can be accessed from the "automation" button's pop-up menu. The automation button can be found in the lower-left corner of the edit page.

- **Punch out:** The recorded changes do not affect the overall parameter setting. That is to say, if you recorded a ramp, and then selected this option, the ramp would have a physical end where the automation curve returned to its previous value. Keyboard shortcut: **U**.
- **Punch out (to end):** When this option is chosen, the parameter level at the end of the recorded curve will be preserved until the end of the track, and any subsequent automation points will be cleared. Keyboard shortcut: **CTRL** + **U** (**CMD** + **U** for Mac users).

7.2 Mapping MIDI controllers to automation parameters

If you have a MIDI controller that has a modulation wheel, or knobs and sliders that produce MIDI events, you can use this hardware to control automation parameters, quickly and easily. You can also do the same with any low cost MIDI-based hardware controller on the market.

To map MIDI controllers to automation parameters, select the "create midi controller mappings" option from the "automation" button (Fig. 7.2.1).

undo	redo	punch out [shortcut: 'U']
save +	clipboard	punch out (to end) [CTRL + U]
import +	export	automation options
timecode +	click track	hide all automation curves
snapping +	tracks	show default automation curve on each track
options +	automation	create midi controller mappings

Figure 7.2.1

This option displays the "MIDI Controller Mappings" window (Fig. 7.2.2). The mapping editor is made up of two columns. The left-hand column shows mapped MIDI controllers, and the right-hand column shows the automation parameter currently mapped to the controller.

controller #1 (Modulation Wheel (coarse)): 84%	track 1 >> Claw >> CUTOFF
click here to choose a controller	click here to choose a parameter

Figure 7.2.2

To create a new map:

- Click the box labelled "click here to choose controller."
- You will be prompted to move the controller you wish to map.
- Manipulate the controller and Tracktion will detect it.
- Once the controller is chosen, Tracktion will create a new entry in the list.
- Click the parameter box to the right of your controller, and choose a parameter from the pop-up menu.
- Repeat for each controller you wish to assign.
- Close the "MIDI Controller Mappings" window.
- Your selected parameters should now respond when the assigned MIDI controllers are moved.

Once you have assigned your controller(s), you can record automation curves as described in the previous section. For your convenience, Automation mappings are saved with edits.

7.3 Handy automation editing and recording shortcuts

Mac users: Replace the **CTRL** key with the **CMD** key.

Shift + CTRL + M: display MIDI automation mapping editor.

H: Toggle automation read mode.

Y: Toggle automation write mode.

U: Punch out of automation record mode.

CTRL + U: Punch out of automation record mode, clearing subsequent points.

Chapter 8: Tempo, sychronisation, and the time line

8.1 Working with tempos and the time-line

Tracktion's time-line bar serves three purposes. The first, and most obvious, is to give you a visual reference by which you can arrange your songs. Secondly, clicking on the timeline provides options to set the tempo and time signatures used in your songs. The third is that the time-line also controls the grid that the "snap-to-grid" feature utilises.

Beats and bars / frames and seconds

By default, Tracktion will display the time-line in beats and bars. If you right-click (CTRL + Click on the Mac) on the time-line, you will see that in addition to beats and bars, you can work in seconds and milliseconds, or seconds and frames. It should be noted that the grid employed by snap-to-grid is determined by the currently selected metric. As such, snapping behaviour alters when a different time-line mode is selected. For convenience, the T key is mapped as a shortcut for toggling through the time-line modes.

Setting the tempo



Figure 8.1.1

Clicking on the time-line shows the tempo properties (Fig. 8.1.1). Here you can set the current tempo, or insert tempo changes into the edit. A tempo consists of a speed, measured in beats per minute (BPM), and a time signature.

Edits may contain tempo changes, and these are shown as regions in the time-line. Each region may be clicked on to display the tempo properties at that location.

Tempo changes can be inserted into an edit by displaying the tempo properties panel, and clicking the "insert tempo change at cursor" button. The tempo section in which the play-head cursor is currently positioned will be split in two, with the new section appearing at, and to the right of the beat nearest the play-head cursor position. Tempo changes can also be inserted by using the **CTRL** + **E** keyboard shortcut (**CMD** + **E** for Mac users).

You can select between smooth and abrupt tempo transitions by either enabling or disabling the "ramped tempo" option. When the ramped option is enabled, the tempo begins ramping from the start of the current region to the start of the next. For example, to define the start and end points of a tempo ramp:

- Insert two tempo changes into your edit, one at each end of the ramp period.
- Set the first tempo region to your initial tempo, by clicking on the tempo region in the time-line, and editing the properties.
- Set both the middle and end regions to the new tempo.
- Enable the "ramped tempo" option on the middle tempo region.
- You should now see the bar division periods smoothly transition between the first and last tempo regions.

If you are unsure what tempo your song will be, you can have Tracktion calculate it for you in two different ways:

- Click on the tempo value to display the tempo properties.
- Tap out your desired tempo with your left mouse button on the pad labelled "click here to tap out a tempo!"

Alternatively:

- Record a MIDI or audio clip, or import an existing clip.
- Trim it to such that the clip boundaries mark bar lines for the clip's material.
- Select the clip to display its properties.
- Choose "set edit's tempo based on this clip's length" from the "auto tempo" button, and choose the length that matches your clip's length.

Snap-to-grid

When snap-to-grid is enabled, the size of the grid is automatically adjusted to match the current zoom settings, or in other words, the snap-to-grid can be relied on to be at the optimum grid size no matter how far you are zoomed into, or out of, the current edit.

Figure 8.1.2 shows how it works. In the image on the left, the snap resolution is 1/16 of a beat. As you can see, the area between the first and second beats of bar one is divided into 16 tick marks on the time-line. Equally, the second image shows a snap resolution of 1/4 of a beat, and as such, there are four visible tick marks for each beat.



Figure 8.1.2

Tip: To see the current snap resolution in the pop-up form shown in Figure 8.1.2, simply position the mouse pointer over the time-line for a few seconds.

User's Guide

The zoom level can quickly be adjusted via your mouse-wheel, or by the **CURSOR UP** / **DOWN** keyboard shortcuts. In addition you can use the **F4** key to zoom into a selected clip, or the **F7** key to zoom to a few seconds either side of the cursor.

8.2 Using markers

Tracktion allows you to set markers on the time-line. These markers act as bookmarks that can be used to quickly jump between sections of a song. You could, for example, set a marker at the start of each verse, chorus, and the middle-eight of your song. Figure 8.2.1 shows the time-line with four markers set.



Figure 8.2.1

The markers are numbered 0-9 and correspond to the number keys on your keyboard. To jump to a marker, simply press the corresponding key. The play-head cursor will then move to the marker location.

Holding the **CTRL** key (**CMD** for Mac users) whilst pressing a number key will set the corresponding marker at the play-head cursor location. Repeating this process will remove the marker.

If you set a marker that has already been placed, the marker will simply move to the new location.

Tip: The play-head cursor will snap to markers even when they are not aligned with the current snap grid. This can be useful when editing audio files as it allows you to zoom right into the file, where you can set markers at points of interest, then zoom back out to make edits.

You can also use markers simply as flags to point out different song locations that you want to have bookmarks for, like verse 1, chorus 1, guitar solo, etc.

8.3 Working with the click-track

In previous chapters we have briefly touched on the click-track. The click-track provides a metronome that performers can use to keep time during recording.

Using a click-track when recording audio is particularly beneficial. Trying to align recorded audio to the tempo of a song, when the performer was not keeping good time, can be very time consuming.

Clicking on the "click track" button (Fig. 8.3.1) displays a number of options for customising the click track. **Turn on click track:** This option toggles whether the click track is currently enabled. Keyboard shortcut: **C**. The click-track will only be heard during playback or recording.

Pre-record count-in length: This control allows you to set a period of click track time before recording starts.

Only click during recording: When this option is enabled the click-track will only be active when recording, otherwise the click-track will be heard during normal playback too.

Use loud clicks to emphasise bars: When this option is selected, the first beat of the bar will be emphasised by a louder click.



Figure 8.3.1

8.4 Synchronising to external hardware, and video

Tracktion can send MIDI clock, and MIDI timecode data to external MIDI devices. MIDI clock, and MIDI timecode provide a way for MIDI devices to synchronise tempo with each other. Some hardware delay processors, for example, can use MIDI clock to automatically set the delay time to match the tempo of a song.

You can think of MIDI clock as being like a metronome for MIDI hardware, it simply stamps out a beat pulse by which devices can play in time.

MIDI timecode is generally used when a high level of precision is required for accurate synchronisation. Unlike MIDI clock, the timecode signal contains full time-of-day data, and allows devices to know not just the current tempo, but also the current play-head position in a song.

To have Tracktion send MIDI clock or MIDI timecode:

- Switch to the settings page.
- Select the audio devices tab.
- Select the MIDI output device(s) that should transmit a MIDI clock signal.
- Enable the option "send midi clock."
- Select the MIDI output device(s) that should transmit MIDI timecode.
- Enable the option "send midi timecode."

Tracktion can also slave to (chase) incoming MIDI timecode. Timecode chasing is discussed in the reference manual on your Tracktion install CD.

Scoring to video

If you are scoring film or video, Tracktion provides a video display that automatically synchronises to your edit.

To show the video window:

- Switch to the edit page.
- Click the "options" button located at the bottom-left of the Tracktion interface. This will display a pop-up menu (Fig. 8.4.1).



Figure 8.4.1

- From the menu, select the "set QuickTime movie file" option, and navigate to a QuickTime movie file on your hard drive.
- Click the "timecode" button, and select the frame-rate for this video from the pop-up menu.

Further options are available for working with video by right-clicking on the floating video window (Fig. 8.4.2):



Figure 8.4.2

Hide window: Select this option to close the window.

Keep window on top: Select this to have the window stay on top of other screens even when it doesn't have focus.

Size options: Use these options to set the window size.

Mute QuickTime audio track: This option controls whether the audio track contained in the movie is muted.

8.5 Handy tempo and quantise shortcuts

Mac users: Replace the **CTRL** key with the **CMD** key. Replace the **ALT** key with your **CTRL** key.

CTRL: To temporarily toggle the state of the snap-to-grid mode, begin a drag or edit operation on a MIDI note, or clip, and whilst performing the edit, hold down the **CTRL** key.

SHIFT: holding down the **SHIFT** key whilst moving clips or MIDI notes locks them to their current time. In other words, they can be dragged up or down, but not forwards or backwards. This is particularly useful with MIDI notes, as it makes it easy to transpose the notes without losing the groove. You will also find this useful when comping vocals, as you can easily move words from one take to another whilst keeping them locked in time.

Q: Enable/disable snapping.

CTRL + E: Insert a tempo change at the current play-head cursor position.

T: Toggle time-line between beats/bars, seconds/frames, or seconds/milliseconds.

SHIFT + T: Toggle MIDI timecode chasing.

ALT + M: Hide/show the QuickTime movie window.

Chapter 9: Exporting and distributing your music

9.1 Exporting your music as an audio file

If you wish to distribute your music, or even just listen to it in your car, you will first need to export your edit as an audio file.

To an export an edit as an audio file to be burned to a CD:

- Open the edit by selecting the edit in the items list, and clicking the "open for editing" button in the properties panel.
- With the edit open in the edit page, click the "export" button in the global controls section, and choose the "export audio file..." option.
- You will need to set the path and file name for the exported audio, in the "file" field.
- Choose an audio format.
- Set the sample rate to 44100.
- Make sure stereo is selected.
- Set the sample size to 16 bit.
- Enable the normalise option if you like.
- You will probably want to disable all of the other options, although the "render at 1x play-speed" option should be used if you have plug-ins that misbehave when rendering at other than real time speeds.

Rende	ering								
file	D:\Music\Tracktion Pro	ojects\Tracktion2	Test∖new edit 4.wav						
format	WAV file	🗢 💿 stereo	sample rate	44100	\$	sample size	16 bit	\$	
O remo	ve silence at start/end		O normal	ise					
O only render marked region			O adjust level based on RMS						
O rende	er each track to a separate f	ile							
O rende	er at 1x play-speed								
				render			cancel		

Figure 9.1.1

A progress bar will show indicate that Tracktion is creating the audio file. After a few moments the export will complete. The resultant file will be located at the path specified in the "file" field. You can test the exported audio file by opening it in a media player such as QuickTime or Windows Media Player.
9.2 Burning your music to CD, or creating an MP3

If you've read this far you should be well on your way to writing and producing songs in Tracktion. The only remaining question then is how to make your music available for others to hear and/or purchase.

The two most popular means of distribution at this time (other than a record deal) are the venerable audio CD or Internet download. Both approaches have the advantage of being cheap and easy, so since this manual can't tell you how to land a record deal, let's have a look at what is involved in burning audio CDs and uploading music to the Internet.

To write CDs

At the most basic level you simply need a CD or DVD drive capable of burning audio CDs. Most modern PC and Mac computers come as standard with such drives. Typically, software for burning CDs will also be present. If your drive came without software however, or if you are just looking for an easy interface that is the common to both Mac and PC, then read the "iTunes" section below.

To distribute over the Internet

A good way of reaching a wide audience is to distribute music over the Internet. To get started you will need either some Web space, or alternatively an account with an on-line music hosting company. Whilst having your own Web-site will give you the maximum flexibility over how your music is presented, not to mention a place to post news about live performances or merchandise, using a dedicated music hosting company presents a far simpler approach. A Web search for "web hosting" or "music hosting" will provide you with some places to start seeking suitable providers.

Once you have found a place to host your music on-line, you will need to look into audio compression software. Audio files tend to be large, and ill-suited to Internet distribution. A typical audio file will take few hours to download over a dial-up Internet connection, and even with DSL or cable Internet, the download time is not insignificant. The solution is to compress your audio with one of the many MP3 encoders. These encoders will reduce the file size to something in the region of a tenth of its original size, without too great a compromise on quality.

Burning audio CDs, and creating mp3s, with Apple's iTunes

If you are looking for software capable of burning CDs and converting audio files to mp3, then Apple's iTunes software may be just what you are searching for. It comes as standard with Macs, but PC users can download it, completely free of charge, from: http://www.apple.com/itunes/

To burn a CD using iTunes:

- Add your songs to the play-list (select "Add File to Play-list" from the "File" menu).
- Create a new play-list (select "New Play-list" from the "File" menu).
- Drag your songs into the new play-list and arrange them in the order you would like them to appear on the CD (Fig. 9.2.1).
- Make sure the play-list is selected and click the "Burn Disc" button.
- iTunes will begin burning your tracks to CD.

					iTunes			B
File Edit Controls Visualizer A	dvance	ed Help						
					Ś		Q- Search	Burn Disc
Source		Song Name		Time	Artist	Album	Genre	My Rating
Dibrary	1	🗹 01 Bobeya	0	5:53				
Party Shuffle	2	🗹 02 Essex	0	5:31				
🛜 Radio	3	🗹 03 Elydaze	0	4:55				
V 🕼 Music Store								
Y Shopping Cart								
jog dZihan & Kamien , ≜								
🙊 90's Music								
My Top Rated								
Recently Played								
Top 25 Most Played								
👔 new playlist 🕥 📀								

Figure 9.2.1

To convert songs to MP3:

- Select the "Preferences" option from the "Edit" menu ("iTunes menu on the Mac) (Fig. 9.2.2).
- Click "Importing" to edit the settings for iTunes encoding method.
- If iTunes is not currently set to import material using mp3, then select "MP3 Encoder".
- Choose your desired compression rate for the "Setting" field. Generally 128kbps is considered the best compromise between quality and file size.
- Approve any changes you have made by clicking "OK".
- Add your songs to the play-list (select "Add File to Play-list" from the "File" menu).
- Select you songs and click the "Convert Selection to MP3" option from the "Advanced" menu.

• After a few moments the conversion will be complete and your tracks will be in MP3 format.

		iTunes		Jax
File Edit Controls Visualizer Ad	dvanced Help	ر ف آتانnes	Q xi	rch Burn Disc
Lbrary Party Shuffle Rado Rado Wisc Store Wy Shopping Cart @ dZhana & Kamien , ≜ 90's Music @ My Top Rated Recently Played Top 25 Most Played Top 25 Most Played	3 dd graan 1 df 01 - Bc 2 df 02 - Es 3 df 03 - Eh	General iPod Audio Importing Burning Sharing Store Advanced Import Using MP3 Encoder Setting Higher Quality (152 kbps) Details Sklps (trene), normal steres. Play songs while importing Play songs while importing Ciccate filenames with track number Use areas exercise during Ciccate filenames with track number		e my roung

Figure 9.2.2

9.3 A few final words

Hopefully, this user's guide has given you a feel for how powerful and easy to use your new sequencing software is. There are a great many more features and tools available in Tracktion that simply could not be covered in this user's guide. One of Tracktion's great strengths though, is the ease with which it can be learned. As such, we are confident that you are already in good stead to start making great music.

We want to ensure that you can get the most out of Tracktion, however, so there is also a full reference manual in Adobe Acrobat format. This manual explains the advanced tools that were not covered in this guide. It also provides some useful walk-throughs for common recording and mixing scenarios. Finally, because it is a reference manual, it details every feature and option within Tracktion. So, if you find yourself wondering what a particular option does, the reference guide is where to find the answer.

If you ever get stuck, you can always visit the Tracktion forum on the Mackie website (http://forums.mackie.com/). There you will receive help from Mackie staff, and other users.

Tracktion has a thriving user community at the Raw Material Software forum (http://www.kvraudio.com/forum/viewforum.php?f=22). There you will find many enthusiastic Tracktion users.

All that is left to say at this point is that we at Mackie, and Raw Material Software, hope you enjoy using Tracktion as much as we enjoyed creating it.

©2005 LOUD Technologies Inc. All Rights Reserved.

User's Guide

[&]quot;Mackie." and the "Running Man" figure are registered trademarks of LOUD Technologies Inc. All other brand names mentioned are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective holders, and are hereby acknowledged.



16220 Wood-Red Road NE • Woodinville, WA 98072 • USA United States and Canada: 800.898.3211 Europe, Asia, Central and South America: 425.487.4333 Middle East and Africa: 31.20.654.4000 Fax: 425.487.4337 • www.mackie.com E-mail: sales@mackie.com